Mississippi State University Scholars Junction

Theses and Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

12-8-2017

# Sperm Genetic and Epigenetic Mechanisms Regulating Male Fertility

Naseer Ahmad Kutchy

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td

### **Recommended Citation**

Kutchy, Naseer Ahmad, "Sperm Genetic and Epigenetic Mechanisms Regulating Male Fertility" (2017). *Theses and Dissertations*. 4030. https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td/4030

This Dissertation - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Scholars Junction. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholars Junction. For more information, please contact scholcomm@msstate.libanswers.com.

Sperm genetic and epigenetic mechanisms regulating male fertility

By

Naseer Ahmad Kutchy

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Mississippi State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Agricultural Sciences in the Department of Animal and Dairy Science

Mississippi State, Mississippi

December 2017

Copyright by

Naseer Ahmad Kutchy

2017

Sperm genetic and epigenetic mechanisms regulating male fertility

By

Naseer Ahmad Kutchy

Approved:

Erdoğan Memili (Director of Dissertation)

Donna M. Gordon (Committee Member)

Caleb O. Lemley (Committee Member)

Andy D. Perkins (Committee Member)

Jamie E. Larson (Graduate Coordinator)

John Blanton Jr. (Department Head)

George M. Hopper Dean College of Agriculture and Life Sciences Name: Naseer Ahmad Kutchy

Date of Degree: December 8, 2017 Institution: Mississippi State University Major Field: Agricultural Sciences Director of Dissertation: Erdoğan Memili Title of Study: Sperm genetic and epigenetic mechanisms regulating male fertility Pages in Study 126

Candidate for Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Male fertility, ability to fertilize and activate the egg and support early embryo development, is crucial for mammalian reproduction and development. Testis specific histone 2B (TH2B) of sperm, protamines (PRM1/2), and posttranslational modifications of histone 3 (H3K27me3 and H3k27ac) are involved in spermatogenesis and male fertility. However, molecular and cellular mechanisms by which TH2B regulates histone to protamine replacement is poorly defined. Immunocytochemistry, western blotting, flow cytometry, computer-assisted sperm analysis (CASA) and bioinformatic approaches were applied to analyze sperm from Holstein bulls with different in vivo fertility. Results from the immunocytochemistry experiments showed that while TH2B and H3K27me3 were localized predominantly at the equatorial and post acrosomal (localized as a crown around the sperm head) parts, respectively. The H3K27ac was also detectable in the bovine sperm head. Signal intensities of TH2B (mean  $\pm$  SEM) were higher in sperm from the low fertility bulls  $(220.56 \pm 9.20)$  as compared to those from the high fertility bulls (198.39  $\pm$  10.0). Signal intensities of H3K27me3 (16.25  $\pm$  1.69) were significantly different than those of H3K27ac ( $4.74 \pm 0.88$ ) in bull spermatozoa. Using the bioinformatic tools, including Clustal Omega, Cytoscape, Emboss Dotmatcher,

InterProScan, and STRING, we demonstrated that TH2B has the conserved histone H2B domain which has a strong association with proteins involved in chromosome organization and histone ubiquitination. Intensities of PRM1 and PRM2 were significantly associated with one another (p < 0.0001), but neither were significantly associated with fertility. Results from CASA revealed significant differences between high and low fertility bulls regarding average sperm pathway velocity, amplitude of lateral head displacement and straightness (p < 0.05). The interacting proteins of H3 are involved in subcellular processes such as regulation of H3K27 methylation, nucleosome assembly, regulation of DNA replication, and chromatin assembly. These results are significant because they help advance fundamental knowledge in sperm physiology involving epigenetic and genetic determinants. The new knowledge can be used to enhance reproductive biotechnology to improve fertility. In addition, the data generated using the unique bull model can be applied to study mammalian reproduction and development due to similarities in genetics and physiology between bovine and other mammals.

# DEDICATION

Dedicated to all those who support the pursuit of making positive impacts on science and society on a global scale.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my dissertation director and mentor Professor Erdoğan Memili, who has the attitude and the substance of a genius: He has continually and convincingly conveyed a spirit of adventure regarding research and scholarship, and an excitement in teaching. He will be inspiration for all my life and I am indebted to him for rest of my life. My mentors, Prof. Abdul Hammed Dhar (first person to appreciate my capabilities) and Prof. Donna M. Gordon (for kind words, suggestions and advice) were also vital for my development.

I would like to thank my committee members, Professors Donna M. Gordon, Andy D. Perkins, and Caleb O. Lemley for their valuable guidance and support.

I also appreciate my mentors and collaborators Drs. Mohd Amin Beg, Abdullah Kaya, Robert W. Wills, Azad Ahmad, Parvaiz Dar, Arlindo Moura, and Graham for their support, encouragement, and guidance.

For all the good times in our laboratory I thank colleagues Drs. Erika Menezes and Hazem El-Debaky, Ana Velho, Muhammet Rasit, Fagner Santos, Asma Ul Husna, Marie Jacobsen, Jasmine McNair, Austin Chiappetta, Peyton Haynes, Tooba Shabbir, Aylin Memili and Rachel Bobo. I thank Ibrahim Abdoulahi, Olanrewaji Raji, Ismail Khan, Telmah, Syed Gous, Nouman, Oda, Janak Dhakal, Muneer Dar, Shah Tawseef Bashir, Tavsief Sheikh, Firdous Khan, Raies Mir, Irfan Bhat, and Arif Lone for their friendship and support in the pursuit of happiness in life.

I thank my sponsor Netaji-Subhas Indian Council of Agricultural Research International Fellowship (NS-ICAR), New Delhi, India for the competitive Ph.D. fellowship in the USA. I also thank Prof. Lori Bruce and the Graduate School of Mississippi State University for support and high caliber guidance.

Finally, I am forever indebted to my parents (Mohd Shafi Kuchey and Naseema Begum), my sisters (Abida Shafi and Shubeena Shafi), my brother (Afaq Ahmad Kuchey) and my love (Aamina Yousuf) for their love, support and trust in me and for bearing my separation.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDIC	CATION	
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST O	OF TABLES	viii
LIST O	OF FIGURES	ix
CHAPT	ΓER	
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Sperm chromatin structure modulates sperm nuclear shape and function testis specific histone 2B (TH2B)	5
	Histone three lysine 27 acetylation and tri-methylation	9
	Protamines	11
	The bull is a suitable model for the study of male fertility in humans	13
	References	16
II.	TESTIS SPECIFIC HISTONE 2B IS ASSOCIATED WITH SPERM CHROMATIN DYNAMICS AND BULL FERTILITY	26
	Abstract	
	Introduction	27
	Methods	
	Experimental design	
	Evaluation of TH2B expression in bull sperm by flow cytometry	
	Statistical analysis for flow cytometry	
	Visualization of sperm TH2B using immunocytochemistry	35
	Statistical analysis for immunocytochemistry	
	Extraction of nuclear sperm protein for Western blotting	
	Western blotting analyses of sperm nuclear proteins	
	Statistical analysis for Western blotting	
	Analyses of sequences and interactions of TH2B using bioinformatics	40
	Results	41
	Expression dynamics of TH2B in bull sperm using flow cytometry	41
	Cellular localization of TH2B in bull sperm using	
	immunocytochemistry	43
	Expression of TH2B in bull sperm using Western blotting	46

	Bioinformatic analyses of TH2B and H2B	48
	Interactions among sperm nuclear proteins from bovine, human and	50
	mouse	
	Interactome of testis specific histone 2B (1H2B)	
	Discussion	
	Conclusions	
	References	
III.	ACETYLATION AND METHYLATION OF SPERM HISTONE 3	
	LYSINE 27 (H3K27AC AND H3K27ME3) ARE	
	ASSOCIATED WITH BULL FERTILITY	63
	Abstract	63
	Introduction	64
	Materials and methods	67
	Experimental design	67
	Immunolocalization of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 in bull sperm	68
	Evaluation of H3K27ac versus H3K27me3 in bull sperm by flow	
	cytometry	70
	Statistical methods employed for flow cytometric data	71
	Analysis of H3 conservation	72
	Analysis of H3 Interactome	73
	Results	73
	Cellular localization of H3K27me3 and H3K27ac in bull sperm	73
	Flow cytometric analysis of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 expression in	
	sperm from HF and LF bulls	75
	Conservation of H3 across mammals	83
	Interactomes of H3 with other sperm specific proteins and significant	o <b>-</b>
	gene ontology (GO) terms	85
	Discussion	87
	References	91
IV.	SPERM CELLULAR AND NUCLEAR DYNAMICS ASSOCIATED	
	WITH BULL FERTILITY	97
	Abstract	
	Introduction	
	Materials and methods	100
	Determination of sperm phenotypes associated with bull fertility	
	using computer-assisted sperm analysis system (CASA)	100
	Evaluation of sperm plasma membrane, acrosome status and DNA	100
	chromatin damage using flow cytometry	102
	Flow cytometric evaluation of PRM1 and PRM2 expression in hull	
	spermatozoa	103
	Statistical analyses	105
	Results	106

	Determination of sperm phenotypes associated with bull fertility	
	using CASA	106
	Evaluation of sperm plasma membrane, acrosome status and DNA	
	chromatin damage using flow cytometry	107
	Flow cytometric analysis of PRM1 and PRM2 expression in sperm	
	from HF and LF bulls	108
	Discussion	113
	Conclusions	115
	References	117
V.	OVERALL SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND PROSPECTS	122
	References	126

# LIST OF TABLES

1	Fertility phenotypes of the Holstein bulls used for flow cytometry analysis
2	Fertility phenotypes of the Holstein bulls whose sperm were used for immunocytochemistry and Western blotting32
3	Statistical model for flow cytometry, immunocytochemistry and Western blotting40
4	TH2B flow cytometry analysis between high and low fertility bulls
5	Gene Ontology (GO) overexpression terms for <i>TH2B</i> in bull
6	Fertility phenotypes of Holstein bulls whose sperm were used for flow cytometry analysis
7	Average value of unstained sperm, sperm positive for H3K27ac, H3K27me3 positive, double positive (H3K27ac + H3K27me3) positive from HF and LF bulls
8	Percent identity matrix nucleotide and amino acid calculated between different mammals for <i>Histone 3</i>
9	Fertility data of bull sperm used for this study
10	Sperm parameters (mean values ± S.D) of frozen-thawed bull spermatozoa with different fertility phenotypes1066

# LIST OF FIGURES

1	Differential expression of TH2B in sperm from bulls with different fertility scores
2	Regression models showing in the intensity of TH2B in sperm as related to fertility scores in bulls
3	Cellular localization of TH2B in bull spermatozoa44
4	Immunostaining of TH2B in low fertility bull spermatozoa45
5	Immunostaining of TH2B in high fertility bull spermatozoa456
6	Detection of TH2B protein using Western blotting and regression models showing variation in the intensity of TH2B in sperm as related to fertility scores in Holstein bulls
7	Threshold dotplot of TH2B and H2B amino acids between bovine and human
8	Protein-protein interactions involving TH2B
9	The interactome of TH2B protein with chromatin remodeling proteins54
10	Cellular localization and intensity of H3K27ac in bull sperm74
11	Cellular localization and intensity of H3K27me3 in bull sperm75
12	Differential expression of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 in bovine sperm
13	Differences between average of acetylation and methylation of H3K27
14	Differences between sperm acetylation and methylation of H3K2783
15	Cluster from H3's interactome generated by Cytoscape's
16	The interactome of H3 generated by Cytoscape, containing 209 nodes and 224 edges

17	Assessment of plasma membrane, acrosome status, and DNA chromatin damage of bull spermatozoa.	108
18	Flow cytometry negative controls	109
19	Differential expression of PRM1 and PRM2 in bovine spermatozoa	110
20	Differential expression of PRM1 in HF and LF bull sperm	111
21	Differential expression of PRM2 in HF and LF bull sperm	112
22	Relationship between the expressions of PRM1 and PRM2 in bull sperm	113

### CHAPTER I

### INTRODUCTION

Bull fertility, ability of sperm to activate an egg and cause fertilization, is the essential factor in cattle reproduction. Important to this research is the observation that despite producing ample amounts of sperm with normal motility and morphology, fertility of some bulls remains subpar. We know that molecular, cellular, and physiological mechanisms, which occur because of sperm nuclear proteins can regulate sperm chromatin dynamics. However, we do not know specifically how testis specific histone (TH2B), post translational modifications (PTM) of Histone 3 (H3), protamine 1 (PRM1) as one of the predominant sperm nuclear proteins are able to regulate sperm chromatin dynamics and ultimately determine the health of sperm from bulls of differing fertility. These gaps in the scientific knowledge are important because they are limiting advances in animal science, chromatin biology, and agricultural biotechnology. This section will first review spermatogenesis followed by the fertilization process, sperm chromatin structure, testis specific histones, posttranslational modified histones, protamines and finally the bull a model for studying mammalian reproductive physiology and chromatin biology.

Spermatogenesis is the sequential, developmental process with continuous cell generation and differentiation of primordial germ cells into functional spermatozoa within the testis (Govindaraju et al., 2012). Primordial germ cells differentiate to spermatogonia via mitosis to form primary spermatocytes that undergo meiosis producing haploid secondary spermatocytes, which then terminally differentiate into spermatozoa (Oliva, 2006). During spermatogenesis, sperm chromatin is tightly packed mostly with protamines (85–98%), forming toroids of DNA.

Initially in this intense compaction process called chromatin packaging, sperm histones with globular structure are first replaced by transition proteins and then by protamines, arginine-rich oligopeptides (Lewis et al., 2003) having  $\alpha$ -helical structure with  $\beta$ -rings (Vilfan et al., 2004), or  $\beta$ -pleated structure (Biegeleisen, 2006). At this transition that occurs during spermatogenesis, DNA is compacted greater than 10 times more tightly than that in somatic cells which results in the arrest of DNA replication or RNA transcription in sperm (Shaman et al., 2007; Miller et al., 2010). However, the transition is not always complete as some histones are still partially retained as in mouse (1-4%) and human sperm (15-30%). The histone-bound DNA loci can encode transcription factors and indeed play important roles during post-fertilization events and early embryonic development (Hammoud et al., 2009). Errors in histone to protamine replacement and abnormal protamine ratios have been associated with sperm abnormalities, some causing male infertility (Balhorn et al., 1988; de Yebra et al., 1993). Instead of two protamines (PRM1 and PRM2) as in human and mouse sperms (Balhorn, 1989), the presence of only PRM1 in bull sperm raises an interesting question about the mechanism(s) regulating sperm chromatin structure.

Fertilization is a well-regulated process that occurs by the union of two gametes, each containing only one half of the diploid complement in order to ensure restoration of diploidy and subsequent embryonic development (Palermo et al., 1997). During spermatogenesis, spermatozoa that are present in syncytium share mRNA and proteins through cytoplasmic bridges and are phenotypically diploid (Cho et al., 2003; Braun et al., 1989; Caldwell and Handel, 1991). Packing its DNA into a volume less than 5% that of somatic cells provides profound benefits to sperm, improves the hydrodynamics, and helps protect the sperm from endonucleases present in the female reproductive tract (Wyrobek et al., 1976). Sperm with their efficiently packaged chromatin due to replacement of histones with protamines are the sperm most likely to fertilize the oocyte and regulate egg activation and subsequent embryo development (Balhorn et al., 1988). During fertilization, sperm not only provides the protamines but also inherits retained histones and the sperm nuclear matrix attachment regions (MARs) to zygote, forming the paternal pronucleus (Ward, 2010). Epigenetic regulations involving posttranslational modifications (PTM) of chromatin remodeling proteins, such as histones, are thought to influence fertilization and early embryonic development (de Oliveira et al., 2013). Regions of sperm chromatin bound to methylated histories are mainly present in heterochromatin regions where the genes are occasionally silenced (Fischle et al., 2003). Acetylated histones, on the other hand, are associated with the euchromatin architecture, reducing histone–DNA links and facilitating both replacement of protamines and activation of transcription during spermatogenesis (Struhl, 1998). Researchers have recently demonstrated the presence of PTM in protamines (Brunner et al., 2014), and that PTM in histores may modulate protamine–DNA interactions (Balhorn, 2007).

Chromatin remodeling occurs during spermatogenesis where linker histones are gradually replaced by testis-specific variants, followed by the replacement of histones with transition proteins and then with protamines (Kimmins and Sassone-Corsi, 2005).

Testis-specific histone (TH2B) is the most commonly retained (Gatewood et al., 1990) and its increased levels in sperm lead to lower levels of protamines (Zhang et al., 2006). A decreased level of protamines in sperm due to an abnormality in retained histones is one of the major factors associated with infertility in humans (Blanchard et al., 1990). In placentals, the sperm chromatin has two different arginine and cysteine-rich protamines (PRM1 and PRM2) (Balhorn et al., 1977; Bélaïche et al., 1987; Bellvé et al., 1988). The PRM1 contains 50 amino acids with a highly conserved amino-terminal hexapeptide sequence and a central DNA binding region containing several arginine-rich anchoring domains (Bélaïche et al., 1987; Balhorn, 1989; Pirhonen et al., 1989). However, PRM2 is synthesized from a precursor protein molecule that is shortened by 40% and yields an arginine-rich and histidine-rich protein that is 63 amino acids in length (Yelick et al., 1987; Carré-Eusèbe et al., 1991; Debarle et al., 1995). Humans, some species of hamsters (Campbell, Syrian, Siberian, and Turkish), and stallions contain two protamines (PRM1 and PRM2) in the sperm chromatin (Balhorn, 1989; Pirhonen et al., 1989; Corzett et al., 1999), whereas bulls (Coelingh et al., 1972; Mazrimas et al., 1986) and, rams (Loir and Lanneau, 1980; Sautiere et al., 1984), and boars (Tobita et al., 1983) contain the single protamine, PRM1. A recent study revealed that, like histones, protamines are also subjected to PTM. Due to their positive charges, protamines are responsible for tight packaging of the sperm DNA, which is believed to later contribute to the transcriptional silencing in the mature sperm (Brunner et al., 2014). Following fertilization, protamines of the paternal genome are replaced by maternal histones, thus the possibility that the retained sperm histones with PTM could play a role in egg activation and embryo development. At this time, the functional significance of PTM of the protamine is

unknown. Abnormal protamine replacement is associated with increased histone retention (Zini et al., 2008), but the mechanisms regulating sperm viability in one versus two protamines are unknown. Furthermore, roles of protamine in protecting the sperm physiology from damaging agents are yet to be determined.

#### Sperm chromatin structure modulates sperm nuclear shape and function

Higher histone retention is a probable cause of infertility in males. Abnormal histone retention alters the protamine replacement causing inefficient chromatin condensation (Kazerooni et al., 2009). Abnormalities in chromatin condensation influences the size of the sperm at the time of the decondensation step (Kazerooni et al., 2009), which may prevent egg activation by the spermatozoa. Histone to protamine replacement occurs in two steps. First, the modified histones are replaced with the transition proteins 1 and 2. Then, transition nuclear proteins 1 and 2 are replaced with protamines (Aoki et al., 2006a). Variation in the types of protamines occurs among different animals. Humans and mice have PRM1 and PRM2, whereas bulls have PRM1 however the presence of PRM2 is still doubtful. Changes in the size and elongation of sperm head are associated with increased divergence of *PRM1* sequence in most mammals (Lüke et al., 2014). Replacement of histories with protamines plays an important role in crucial cellular processes such as changes in the sperm and temporary arrest of transcription in the haploid male genomes, which protects and stabilizes sperm DNA. For example, Lüke et al. (2014) demonstrated that abnormalities in replacement of histones with protamines can cause major defects in sperm morphology and physiology. Cho et al. (2003) demonstrated that defective histone replacement results in flagellum tightly wrapped around the head or elongated heads having reduced ventral flexure. As

such, proper nuclear architecture facilitating sperm hydrodynamics can offer an advantage for sperm to reach, fertilize, and activate the egg. Protamines in the sperm nucleus form a toroiodal structure that helps to attain ideal sperm nuclear shape and efficient compaction of DNA. The association of protamines with DNA brings about unique chromatin remodeling in spermatozoa and appears to facilitate the hydrodynamic shape of the sperm head (Brunner et al., 2014). Swimming velocity of spermatozoa depends on sperm nuclear shape and size, which in turn affects hydrodynamic efficiency of the sperm (Tourmente et al., 2011; Roldan et al., 1992). Smaller and more elongated heads with proper compaction have less resistive drag during swimming and allow higher sperm velocity (Humphries et al., 2008), enabling sperm to reach and fertilize the egg. Hydrodynamic spermatozoa become highly motile, and help protect the paternal genome from physical and chemical change and damage in the female reproductive tract (Rathke et al., 2014).

Although protamines are involved in sperm chromatin condensation and function, there is restrictive positive selection on only a few functional sites (Lüke et al., 2014). Abnormalities in associations between protamines and DNA lead to low sperm counts, loss of hydrodynamicity in spermatozoa, and increased damage to sperm chromatin and morphology. These abnormalities negatively affect ability of sperm to travel in the female reproductive tract and to fertilize the egg (Carrell et al., 2007; Aoki et al., 2005). Increased incorporation of protamines into sperm chromatin has been shown to block transcription of genes (Lee et al., 1995; Kierszenbaum, 2003).

Deficiencies in protamine levels are related to infertility in men (Balhorn et al., 1988; de Yebra et al., 1993; Belokopytova et al., 1993). Errors in sperm DNA compaction due to improper protamine replacement is a major cause of sperm DNA damage. This is strongly correlated with failure of embryonic development (Morris et al., 2002).

Efficient protamination is essential for chromatin integrity, function of sperm, and development of embryos (de Oliveira et al., 2013; Franken et al., 1999; Esterhuizen et al., 2000, 2002; Sakkas et al., 1996; Lolis et al., 1996; Nasr-Esfahani et al., 2001; Razavi et al., 2003). Improper retention of histones is a result of improper protamination that affects preferential activation of genes during early embryogenesis (Hammoud et al., 2009). Genes such as *igf1* and globin that are highly expressed during embryogenesis are enriched in histone binding (Gardiner-Garden et al., 1998; Wykes and Krawetz, 2003). The PTM such as methylation, acetylation, and phosphorylation of sperm histones are important epigenetic control mechanisms regulating the expression of the paternal genome by the maternal transcriptional factors during early embryonic development (Hammoud et al., 2009; Miller et al., 2010). Although the PTM of protamines has been demonstrated, precise mechanisms and specific causes and effects of these modifications on embryogenesis are still unclear (Brunner et al., 2014).

Chromatin integrity of sperm is important in successful fertilization, proper egg activation, and embryo development and ultimately in the survival of a species (Morris et al., 2002; Gawecka et al., 2013). The quality of sperm chromatin has such an important impact on the reproductive performance of the male, advanced methods are needed in the study of sperm chromatin health. These methods include sperm chromatin structure assays (SCSA), sperm chromatin dispersion (SCD), terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick-end labeling (TUNEL) or the Comet assay,

7

immunocytochemistry, and flow cytometry (de Oliveira et al., 2013; Noblanc et al., 2014; Dogan et al., 2015). Although these methods provide valuable insights into molecular integrity of the sperm chromatin, there is still lacking a technique to analyze (noninvasively) the chromatin integrity of a single spermatozoon that is completely ready to fertilize the egg.

#### Testis specific histone 2B (TH2B)

Testicular germ cells give rise to spermatogonia and finally spermatozoa, expressing histone variants which are distinct from somatic cells. The majority of histones and theses testis specific histone variants are evicted during histone to protamine transition (Balhorn et al., 1984). The replacement of canonical histones by testis specific histones, for example histone 2B (H2B) replaced by testis specific histone 2B (TH2B), causes relaxation of the histone-bound chromatin by eviction of canonical histones from sperm (Montellier et al., 2013). Homology between somatic histone (H2B) to testis specific (TH2B) in human sperm is 85% (Zalensky et al., 2002). Transition of H2B to TH2B sets nucleosome stability, ensuring a genome-wide change of nucleohistone to intermediate structural entities, which in turn are required for the assembly of TNPs (TNP1 & TNP2) and protamines (PRM1) (Montellier et al., 2013).

TH2B induces open chromatin structure and plays a role in inter-nuclear protein replacement in sperm chromatin (Shinagawa et al., 2015). Two chromatin remodelers, chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 5 (CHD5), and bromodomain-containing protein 4 (BRD4) aid TH2B during its nuclear protein replacement of sperm chromatin. While CHD5 is a member of the chromodomain helicase DNA binding (CHD) family and regulates the sperm chromatin construction (Zhuang et al., 2014), BRD4 belongs to the bromodomain-containing protein family that regulates transcription of genes in sperm by binding to the hyperacetylated genomic regions (Bryant et al., 2015).

The octamer-shaped nucleohistone complex consists of histones H2A, H2B, histone 3 (H3) and histone 4 (H4), all involved in sperm DNA packaging. Along with protamines, they form a tightly coiled and compacted nuclear structure of DNA in the sperm nucleus known as the toroidal model (Ward, 2010). Retained sperm histones are vital for the histone-bound genes activated before and/or after fertilization. Defects in sperm chromatin are linked to spontaneous abortion and failures of assisted reproductive techniques for humans (Boe-Hansen et al., 2006; Cebesoy et al., 2006). These defects include disrupted DNA integrity due to mutations, and apoptotic DNA fragmentation as a result of exposure to environmental agents and free radicals (Andrabi, 2007; Anifandis et al., 2015a). Such disruptions of chromatin proteins, transcriptional factors, and aberrant histone methylation are speculated to contribute to the decreased fertility in humans (Anifandis et al., 2015b; Belokopytova et al., 1993). Abnormal protamine versus histone ratios cause infertility (Aoki et al., 2006b). Therefore, proper TH2B versus protamine ratios are important for efficient packaging of sperm chromatin (Montellier et al., 2013). Functional significance of TH2B in the oocyte remains unclear, and the maternal TH2B might be involved in the release of protamines from sperm following fertilization of the egg, thereby facilitating incorporation of maternal histories into the chromatin of the developing embryo (Shinagawa et al., 2014; Shinagawa et al., 2015).

### Histone three lysine 27 acetylation and tri-methylation

Retained histones in sperm undergo PTMs that regulate gene expression in a spatiotemporal manner (Kouzarides, 2007). Further, these histone modifications act as

epigenetic tags on paternal genes and are passed on to the offspring (Guerrero-Bosagna and Skinner, 2014). The influence of PTMs in sperm chromatin has a significant impact on correct chromatin conformation by which stability of histone octamers as well as interaction between histones and DNA are attained (Bao et al., 2013; Bao and Bedford, 2016; Bedford and Richard, 2005). Thus, these distinct and spatiotemporal PTMs of histone in conjunction with chromatin remodelers bromodomain containing protein 4 (BRD4) (Bryant et al., 2015), chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 5 (CHD5) (Zhuang et al., 2014), testis specific histone 2B (TH2B) (Montellier et al., 2013; Shinagawa et al., 2015) as well as other effector modelers, play important roles in sperm chromatin remodeling, eviction of histones, and proper histone-protamine replacement. Additionally, it has been observed that increased H3 methylation in mature human sperm relates to poor sperm motility and functional quality (La Spina et al., 2014).

Proposed by Jenuwein and Allis in 2001, the "histone code" hypothesis states that histones and their post-translational modifications (PTM) regulate epigenetic information (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001). Since then, much has been discovered about the epigenetic function of histones and their associations with male fertility. Chow *et al.* demonstrated that histone 3.3, a histone variant that differs from canonical histone 3.1 by five amino acids, is enriched at the promoters of active genes (Chow et al., 2005). Histones regulate gene expression via PTM such as acetylation and methylation. Acetylation of histones are highly conserved across mammals (Grimes and Henderson, 1984; Meistrich et al., 1992; Oliva and Mezquita, 1982). Acetylation of lysine is known to affect chromatin by decreasing the positive charge of histones that causes a weak histone to negatively charged DNA interaction resulting in increased chromatin fluidity (Bao and Bedford, 2016). Methyltransferases reactions catalyze methylation of lysine on histone (Rivera et al., 2014). These posttranslational modifications of the core histones can also affect the male genome's accessibility to maternal transcription factors during embryo development (Miller et al., 2010). Recently, Verma *et al.* (Verma et al., 2015) demonstrated that trimethylated histone 3 lysine 27 (H3K27me3) differed at various genomic loci important for sperm function and embryonic development.

#### **Protamines**

Histones are highly basic proteins, whereas protamines are small arginine rich proteins and abundantly present in spermatozoa (Takeda et al., 2016). Nuclear remodeling and condensation during spermiogenesis result in sequential displacement of histones first by transition nuclear proteins and then primarily protamines, namely protamine 1 (PRM1) and protamine 2 (PRM2) (Balhorn et al., 1984; Kistler et al., 1996). The histone and protamine transition is essential for efficient chromatin compaction in order to silence sperm gene expression, protection and maintenance of sperm DNA integrity in the female reproductive tract, and for appropriate size of sperm head for better hydrodynamicity (Braun, 2001).

Mammalian sperm chromatin is not entirely packed with protamines, as 1-15% of mature sperm DNA is bound to histones (Erkek et al., 2013; Gatewood et al., 1987; Hammoud et al., 2009; Samans et al., 2014). Several of these histones are specific to spermatozoa such as TH2B, TH2A, H2AL1, H2AL2, H3.3A and H3.3B (Govin et al., 2007) and linker histones H1T2 and HILS1 (Martianov et al., 2005). Protamines are important for their efficient compression of sperm DNA into a 10-fold smaller sperm nuclear chromatin compaction configured as protamine toroids wherein DNA is attached to the nuclear matrix (Ward, 2010). Protamines are positively charged which triggers increased condensation with the negatively charged paternal genomic DNA (Lewis et al., 2003; Oliva, 1995; Queralt and Oliva, 1995). Because of cysteine amino acids in protamines, tight disulphide bridges are created between the protamine molecules resulting in a stabilized nucleoprotamine complex (Lewis et al., 2003; Vilfan et al., 2004).

Most primates carry single a copy of PRM1 and PRM2 (Nelson and Krawetz, 1993; Nelson and Krawetz, 1994; Queralt and Oliva, 1993; Schlueter et al., 1996). The occurrence and function of PRM2 in bull sperm are not fully understood. The PRM1 and PRM2 genes are organized within the genome to create a loop domain in conjunction with the transition nuclear protein 2 gene (TNP2) plus a sequence called gene4 (Martins et al., 2004; Wykes and Krawetz, 2003). This three-dimensional spatial organization may facilitate a coordinated expression of these genes during spermatogenesis. While the protamines (PRM1 and PRM2) and transition protein (TNP2) genes are expressed at high levels and their functions have been extensively studied in human and mice, only limited information is available for bovines.

While we know that protamines play a crucial role in bovine sperm development and reproduction, the mechanisms regulating sperm physiology are unclear. Protamines are thought to protect the sperm genetic material and its delivery to the egg (Mengual et al., 2003; Oliva and Dixon, 1991). Damage of sperm by endogenous or exogenous agents, such as nucleases, free radicals or mutagens can occur because of the compromised protamination (Alvarez et al., 2002; Irvine et al., 2000). As determined by sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA), abnormal protamination leads to DNA- fragmentation causing and lower success in intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) and in *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) rates (Evenson et al., 1980; Evenson and Wixon, 2005). Levels of protamines in human sperm are directly related to sperm DNA integrity (Aoki et al., 2005). Developmental defects after fertilization have occurred with decreased DNA integrity in mice (Lewis and Aitken, 2005; Suganuma et al., 2005; Tesarik et al., 2004). The in depth studies on protamines could help increase understanding of epigenetic programming, and to develop novel approaches for early diagnosis and treatment of infertility (Bao and Bedford, 2016).

### The bull as a suitable model for the study of male fertility in humans

There have been 3,799 published reported worldwide over the past 5 years concerning male infertility. While 2,740 of these were aimed at revealing male infertility in humans, the rest were animal based studies. We found only 57 published studies on sperm chromatin-related and male infertility studies. Sperm deficiency, including chromatin and DNA damage, is still considered to be the main cause of male infertility. As new and sophisticated technologies are discovered to analyze sperm DNA, it is not surprising to see that there has been a gradual increase in studies of sperm chromatin in both humans and livestock. Although tools are now available to analyze sperm DNA, for the case of humans, there is insufficient progeny data concerning human male fertility to draw decisive conclusions. Male infertility can be measured by determining the levels of hormones such as follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), and testosterone (T), and to perform semen analysis measuring the sperm concentration, motility, and morphology.

There are significant similarities between the human and bovine genome (Elsik et al., 2009) and between their embryonic development. Contrary to human fertility research

relying on anecdotal records of one or a few infertility treatment cycles per couple, there is an abundance of field fertility data available in the agricultural sector, focused on improving livestock reproduction. Sperm samples from bulls with detailed breeding records for thousands of AI services exist along with their well-documented fertility phenotype records which enhance the background of knowledge from animal research data (Feugang et al., 2009). Bulls produce such vast numbers of spermatozoa that semen can be repeatedly collected from a single donor in large quantities, allowing IVF and embryo culture to be better developed, more accurate, and reliable.

Currently insufficient evidence is available on sperm genetic and epigenetic mechanisms regulating bull fertility. Similarly, the mechanisms by which retained testis specific histones, PTM histones and protamines are associated with sperm chromatin dynamics and bull fertility is poorly understood. From this, I establish my *central hypothesis* that sperm TH2B, PTM of H3 (H3K27me3 and H3K27ac) and PRM 1 regulate early mammalian fertility via epigenetic and genetic mechanisms with the following objectives:

- 1. Ascertain sperm histone dynamics linked with fertility using the following:
  - a) Localization of testis specific histone 2B (TH2B) in sperm from various bulls with differing fertility.
  - b) Measure expression ratios of TH2B with Protamine 1 (PRM1) in sperm from the same bulls.
  - c) Measure post translational modifications of Histone H3 (H3K27me3 and H3K27ac) in sperm from the same bulls.

2. Correlate the expression levels of PRM1 and PRM2 in sperm to determine their association with bull fertility.

#### References

- Alvarez JG, Sharma RK, Ollero M, Saleh RA, Lopez MC, Thomas AJ, Evenson DP, Agarwal A (2002) Increased DNA damage in sperm from leukocytospermic semen samples as determined by the sperm chromatin structure assay. Fertility and Sterility 78:319-329
- Andrabi S (2007) Mammalian sperm chromatin structure and assessment of DNA fragmentation. Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics 24:561-569
- Anifandis G, Bounartzi T, Messini C, Dafopoulos K, Markandona R, Sotiriou S, Tzavella A, Messinis I (2015a) Sperm DNA fragmentation measured by Halosperm does not impact on embryo quality and ongoing pregnancy rates in IVF/ICSI treatments. Andrologia 47:295-302
- Anifandis G, Messini C, Dafopoulos K, Messinis I (2015b) Genes and conditions controlling mammalian pre-and post-implantation embryo development. Current Genomics 16:32-46
- Aoki VW, Liu L, Carrell DT (2005a) Identification and evaluation of a novel sperm protamine abnormality in a population of infertile males. Human Reproduction 20:1298-1306
- Aoki VW, Liu L, Jones KP, Hatasaka HH, Gibson M, Peterson CM, Carrell DT (2006) Sperm protamine 1/protamine 2 ratios are related to in vitro fertilization pregnancy rates and predictive of fertilization ability. Fertility and Sterility 86:1408-1415
- Aoki VW, Moskovtsev SI, Willis J, Liu L, Mullen JBM, Carrell DT (2005b) DNA Integrity Is Compromised in Protamine-Deficient Human Sperm. Journal of Andrology 26:741-748
- Balhorn R (1989) Mammalian protamines: structure and molecular interactions. In: Molecular biology of chromosome function. Springer, pp 366-395
- Balhorn R (2007) The protamine family of sperm nuclear proteins. Genome Biology 8:227
- Balhorn R, Gledhill B, Wyrobek A (1977) Mouse sperm chromatin proteins: quantitative isolation and partial characterization. Biochemistry 16:4074-4080
- Balhorn R, Reed S, Tanphaichitr N (1988) Aberrant protamine 1/protamine 2 ratios in sperm of infertile human males. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 44:52-55
- Balhorn R, Weston S, Thomas C, Wyrobek AJ (1984) DNA packaging in mouse spermatids: synthesis of protamine variants and four transition proteins. Experimental Cell Research 150:298-308

- Bao J, Bedford MT (2016) Epigenetic regulation of the histone-to-protamine transition during spermiogenesis. Reproduction 151:R55-R70
- Bao J, Wu J, Schuster AS, Hennig GW, Yan W (2013) Expression Profiling Reveals Developmentally Regulated lncRNA Repertoire in the Mouse Male Germline 1. Biology of Reproduction 89:Article 107, 101-112
- Bedford MT, Richard S (2005) Arginine methylation: an emerging regulatorof protein function. Molecular Cell 18:263-272
- Bélaïche D, Loir M, Kruggle W, Sautière P (1987) Isolation and characterization of two protamines St1 and St2 from stallion spermatozoa, and amino-acid sequence of the major protamine St1. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology 913:145-149
- Bellve AR, McKay DJ, Renaux BS, Dixon GH (1988) Purification and characterization of mouse protamines, P1 and P2. Amino-acid sequence of P2. Biochemistry 27:2890-2897
- Biegeleisen K (2006) The probable structure of the protamine–DNA complex. Journal of Theoretical Biology 241:533-540
- Blanchard Y, Lescoat D, Lannou D (1990) Anomalous distribution of nuclear basic proteins in round-headed human spermatozoa: Anormale Verteilung basischer Kern-Proteine in menschlichen rundköpfigen Spermatozoen. Andrologia 22:549-555
- Boe-Hansen GB, Fedder J, Ersbøll AK, Christensen P (2006) The sperm chromatin structure assay as a diagnostic tool in the human fertility clinic. Human Reproduction 21:1576-1582
- Braun RE, Behringer RR, Peschon JJ, Brinster RL, Palmiter RD (1989) Genetically haploid spermatids are phenotypically diploid. Nature 337:373-376
- Brunner AM, Nanni P, Mansuy IM (2014) Epigenetic marking of sperm by posttranslational modification of histones and protamines. Epigenetics & Chromatin 7:1
- Bryant JM, Donahue G, Wang X, Meyer-Ficca M, Luense LJ, Weller AH, Bartolomei MS, Blobel GA, Meyer RG, Garcia BA (2015) Characterization of BRD4 during mammalian postmeiotic sperm development. Molecular and Cellular Biology 35:1433-1448
- Caldwell KA, Handel MA (1991) Protamine transcript sharing among postmeiotic spermatids. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 88:2407-2411

- Carre-Eusebe D, Lederer F, Le K, Elsevier S (1991) Processing of the precursor of protamine P2 in mouse. Peptide mapping and N-terminal sequence analysis of intermediates. Biochemical Journal 277:39-45
- Carrell DT, Emery BR, Hammoud S (2007) Altered protamine expression and diminished spermatogenesis: what is the link? Human Reproduction Update 13:313-327
- Cebesoy F, Aydos K, Unlu C (2006) Effect of sperm chromatin damage on fertilization ratio and embryo quality post-ICSI. Archives of Andrology 52:397-402
- Cho C, Jung-Ha H, Willis WD, Goulding EH, Stein P, Xu Z, Schultz RM, Hecht NB, Eddy EM (2003) Protamine 2 Deficiency Leads to Sperm DNA Damage and Embryo Death in Mice 1. Biology of Reproduction 69:211-217
- Chow CM, Georgiou A, Szutorisz H, e Silva AM, Pombo A, Barahona I, Dargelos E, Canzonetta C, Dillon N (2005) Variant histone H3. 3 marks promoters of transcriptionally active genes during mammalian cell division. EMBO Reports 6:354-360
- Coelingh JP, Monfoort CH, Rozijn TH, Leuven JAG, Schiphof R, Steyn-Parvé EP, Braunitzer G, Schrank B, Ruhfus A (1972) The complete amino acid sequence of the basic nuclear protein of bull spermatozoa. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure 285:1-14
- de Oliveira RV, Dogan S, Belser LE, Kaya A, Topper E, Moura A, Thibaudeau G, Memili E (2013) Molecular morphology and function of bull spermatozoa linked to histones and associated with fertility. Reproduction 146:263-272
- De Yebra L, Ballesca J, Vanrell J, Bassas L, Oliva R (1993) Complete selective absence of protamine P2 in humans. Journal of Biological Chemistry 268:10553-10557
- Debarle M, Martinage A, Sautiere P, Chevaillier P (1995) Persistence of protamine precursors in mature sperm nuclei of the mouse. Molecular Reproduction and Development 40:84-90
- Dogan S, Vargovic P, Oliveira R, Belser LE, Kaya A, Moura A, Sutovsky P, Parrish J, Topper E, Memili E (2015) Sperm protamine-status correlates to the fertility of breeding bulls. Biology of Reproduction 92:92
- Elsik CG, Tellam RL, Worley KC (2009) The genome sequence of taurine cattle: a window to ruminant biology and evolution. Science 324:522-528
- Erkek S, Hisano M, Liang C-Y, Gill M, Murr R, Dieker J, Schübeler D, Van Der Vlag J, Stadler MB, Peters AH (2013) Molecular determinants of nucleosome retention at CpG-rich sequences in mouse spermatozoa. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology 20:868-875

- Esterhuizen A, Franken D, Lourens J, Prinsloo E, Van Rooyen L (2000) Sperm chromatin packaging as an indicator of in-vitro fertilization rates. Human Reproduction 15:657-661
- Evenson D, Darzynkiewicz Z, Melamed M (1980) Relation of mammalian sperm chromatin heterogeneity to fertility. Science 210:1131-1133
- Evenson DP, Wixon R (2005) Comparison of the Halosperm® test kit with the Sperm Chromatin Structure Assay (SCSA®) infertility test in relation to patient diagnosis and prognosis. Fertility and Sterility 84:846-849
- Feugang JM, Kaya A, Page GP, Chen L, Mehta T, Hirani K, Nazareth L, Topper E, Gibbs R, Memili E (2009) Two-stage genome-wide association study identifies integrin beta 5 as having potential role in bull fertility. BMC Genomics 10:176
- Fischle W, Wang Y, Allis CD (2003) Histone and chromatin cross-talk. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 15:172-183
- Franken D, Franken C, De La Guerre H, De Villiers A (1999) Normal sperm morphology and chromatin packaging: comparison between aniline blue and chromomycin A3 staining. Andrologia 31:361-366
- Gardiner-Garden M, Ballesteros M, Gordon M, Tam PP (1998) Histone-and protamine-DNA association: conservation of different patterns within the β-globin domain in human sperm. Molecular and Cellular Biology 18:3350-3356
- Gatewood J, Cook G, Balhorn R, Bradbury E, Schmid C (1987) Sequence-specific packaging of DNA in human sperm chromatin. Science 236:962-965
- Gatewood JM, Schroth G, Schmid C, Bradbury EM (1990) Zinc-induced secondary structure transitions in human sperm protamines. Journal of Biological Chemistry 265:20667-20672
- Gawecka JE, Marh J, Ortega M, Yamauchi Y, Ward MA, Ward WS (2013) Mouse zygotes respond to severe sperm DNA damage by delaying paternal DNA replication and embryonic development. PLoS One 8:e56385
- Govin J, Escoffier E, Rousseaux S, Kuhn L, Ferro M, Thévenon J, Catena R, Davidson I, Garin J, Khochbin S (2007) Pericentric heterochromatin reprogramming by new histone variants during mouse spermiogenesis. Jornal of Cell Biology 176:283-294
- Govindaraju A, Uzun A, Robertson L, Atli MO, Kaya A, Topper E, Crate EA, Padbury J, Perkins A, Memili E (2012) Dynamics of microRNAs in bull spermatozoa. Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology 10:1

- Grimes SR, Henderson N (1984) Hyperacetylation of histone H4 in rat testis spermatids. Experimental Cell Research 152:91-97
- Guerrero-Bosagna C, Skinner MK (2014) Environmentally induced epigenetic transgenerational inheritance of male infertility. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development 26:79-88
- Hammoud SS, Nix DA, Zhang H, Purwar J, Carrell DT, Cairns BR (2009) Distinctive chromatin in human sperm packages genes for embryo development. Nature 460:473-478
- Humphries S, Evans JP, Simmons LW (2008) Sperm competition: linking form to function. BMC Evolutionary Biology 8:319
- Irvine DS, TWIGG JP, GORDON EL, FULTON N, MILNE PA, Aitken R (2000) DNA integrity in human spermatozoa: relationships with semen quality. Journal of Andrology 21:33-44
- Jenuwein T, Allis CD (2001) Translating the histone code. Science 293:1074-1080
- Kazerooni T, Asadi N, Jadid L, Kazerooni M, Ghanadi A, Ghaffarpasand F, Kazerooni Y, Zolghadr J (2009) Evaluation of sperm's chromatin quality with acridine orange test, chromomycin A3 and aniline blue staining in couples with unexplained recurrent abortion. Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics 26:591-596
- Kierszenbaum A, Rivkin E, Tres L, Duan C, Goldberg E, Szot M, Grigoriev V, Mahadevaiah S, Ojarikre O, Touré A (2003) Patterns, mechanisms, and functions of translation regulation in mammalian spermatogenic cells. Cytogenetic and Genome Research 103:217-224
- Kimmins S, Sassone-Corsi P (2005) Chromatin remodelling and epigenetic features of germ cells. Nature 434:583
- Kistler WS, Henriksén K, Mali P, Parvinen M (1996) Sequential expression of nucleoproteins during rat spermiogenesis. Experimental Cell Research 225:374-381

Kouzarides T (2007) Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell 128:693-705

La Spina FA, Romanato M, Brugo-Olmedo S, De Vincentiis S, Julianelli V, Rivera RM, Buffone MG (2014) Heterogeneous distribution of histone methylation in mature human sperm. Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics 31:45-49

- Lee K, Haugen HS, Clegg CH, Braun RE (1995) Premature translation of protamine 1 mRNA causes precocious nuclear condensation and arrests spermatid differentiation in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 92:12451-12455
- Lewis JD, Song Y, de Jong ME, Bagha SM, Ausió J (2003) A walk though vertebrate and invertebrate protamines. Chromosoma 111:473-482
- Lewis SE, Aitken R (2005) DNA damage to spermatozoa has impacts on fertilization and pregnancy. Cell and Tissue Research 322:33-41
- Loir M, Lanneau M (1978) Partial characterization of ram spermatidal basic nuclear proteins. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 80:975-982
- Lolis D, Georgiou I, Syrrou M, Zikopoulos K, Konstantelli M, Messinis I (1996) Chromomycin A3-staining as an indicator of protamine deficiency and fertilization. International journal of Andrology 19:23-27
- Lüke L, Vicens A, Tourmente M, Roldan ER (2014) Evolution of protamine genes and changes in sperm head phenotype in rodents. Biology of Reproduction 90:67
- Martianov I, Brancorsini S, Catena R, Gansmuller A, Kotaja N, Parvinen M, Sassone-Corsi P, Davidson I (2005) Polar nuclear localization of H1T2, a histone H1 variant, required for spermatid elongation and DNA condensation during spermiogenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102:2808-2813
- Martins RP, Ostermeier GC, Krawetz SA (2004) Nuclear Matrix Interactions at the Human Protamine Domain a working model of potentiation. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279:51862-51868
- Mazrimas J, Corzett M, Campos C, Balhorn R (1986) A corrected primary sequence for bull protamine. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology 872:11-15
- Meistrich ML, Trostle-Weige PK, Lin R, Allis CD, Bhatnagar YM (1992) Highly acetylated H4 is associated with histone displacement in rat spermatids. Molecular Reproduction and Development 31:170-181
- Mengual L, Ballescá JL, Ascaso C, Oliva R (2003) Marked differences in protamine content and P1/P2 ratios in sperm cells from percoll fractions between patients and controls. Journal of Andrology 24:438-447
- Miller D, Brinkworth M, Iles D (2010) Paternal DNA packaging in spermatozoa: more than the sum of its parts? DNA, histones, protamines and epigenetics. Reproduction 139:287-301
- Montellier E, Boussouar F, Rousseaux S, Zhang K, Buchou T, Fenaille F, Shiota H, Debernardi A, Héry P, Curtet S (2013) Chromatin-to-nucleoprotamine transition is controlled by the histone H2B variant TH2B. Genes & Development 27:1680-1692
- Morris I, Ilott S, Dixon L, Brison D (2002) The spectrum of DNA damage in human sperm assessed by single cell gel electrophoresis (Comet assay) and its relationship to fertilization and embryo development. Human Reproduction 17:990-998
- Nasr-Esfahani MH, Razavi S, Mardani M (2001) Andrology: Relation between different human sperm nuclear maturity tests and in vitro fertilization. Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics 18:221-227
- Nelson JE, Krawetz S (1993) Linkage of human spermatid-specific basic nuclear protein genes. Definition and evolution of the P1--> P2--> TP2 locus. Journal of Biological Chemistry 268:2932-2936
- Nelson JE, Krawetz SA (1994) Characterization of a human locus in transition. Journal of Biological Chemistry 269:31067-31073
- Noblanc A, Kocer A, Drevet JR (2014) Recent knowledge concerning mammalian sperm chromatin organization and its potential weaknesses when facing oxidative challenge. Basic and Clinical Andrology 24:6
- Oliva R (2006) Protamines and male infertility. Human Reproduction Update 12:417-435
- Oliva R, Dixon GH (1991) Vertebrate protamine genes and the histone-to-protamine replacement reaction. Progress in Nucleic Acid Research and Molecular Biology 40:25-94
- Oliva R, Mezquita C (1982) Histone H4 hyperacetylation and rapid turnover of its acetyl groups in transcriptionally inactive rooster testis spermatids. Nucleic Acids Research 10:8049-8059
- Palermo GD, Avrech OM, Colombero LT, Wu H, Wolny YM, Fissore RA, Rosenwaks Z (1997) Human sperm cytosolic factor triggers Ca2+ oscillations and overcomes activation failure of mammalian oocytes. Molecular Human Reproduction 3:367-374
- Pirhonen A, Linnala-Kankkunen A, Mäenpää PH (1989) Comparison of partial amino acid sequences of two protamine 2 variants from stallion sperm structural evidence that the variants are products of different genes. FEBS Letters 244:199-202
- Queralt R, Oliva R (1993) Identification of conserved potential regulatory sequences of the protamine-encoding P1 genes from ten different mammals. Gene 133:197-204

- Queralt R, Oliva R (1995) Demonstration of trans-acting factors binding to the promoter region of the testis-specific rat protamine P1 gene. Biochemical and biophysical Research Communications 208:802-812
- Rathke C, Baarends WM, Awe S, Renkawitz-Pohl R (2014) Chromatin dynamics during spermiogenesis. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms 1839:155-168
- Razavi S, Nasr-Esfahani MH, Mardani M, Mafi A, Moghdam A (2003) Effect of human sperm chromatin anomalies on fertilization outcome post-ICSI. Andrologia 35:238-243
- Rivera C, Gurard-Levin ZA, Almouzni G, Loyola A (2014) Histone lysine methylation and chromatin replication. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms 1839:1433-1439
- Sakkas D, Urner F, Bianchi P, Bizzaro D, Wagner I, Jaquenoud N, Manicardi G, Campana A (1996) Sperm chromatin anomalies can influence decondensation after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Human Reproduction 11:837-843
- SAUTIERE P, BELAICHE D, MARTINAGE A, LOIR M (1984) Primary structure of the ram (Ovis aries) protamine. The FEBS Journal 144:121-125
- Schlueter G, Celik A, Obata R, Schlicker M, Hofferbert S, Schlung A, Adham IM, Engel W (1996) Sequence analysis of the conserved protamine gene cluster shows that it contains a fourth expressed gene. Molecular Reproduction and Development 43:1-6
- Shaman JA, Yamauchi Y, Steven Ward W (2007) Function of the sperm nuclear matrix. Archives of Andrology 53:135-140
- Shinagawa T, Huynh LM, Takagi T, Tsukamoto D, Tomaru C, Kwak H-G, Dohmae N, Noguchi J, Ishii S (2015) Disruption of Th2a and Th2b genes causes defects in spermatogenesis. Development 142:1287-1292
- Shinagawa T, Takagi T, Tsukamoto D, Tomaru C, Huynh LM, Sivaraman P, Kumarevel T, Inoue K, Nakato R, Katou Y (2014) Histone variants enriched in oocytes enhance reprogramming to induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 14:217-227
- Struhl K (1998) Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. Genes & Development 12:599-606
- Suwanpugdee A, Kornkeawrat K, Saikhun K, Siriaroonrat B, Tipkantha W, Doungsa-Ard K, Sa-Ardrit M, Suthunmapinatha P, Pinyopummin A (2009) Semen characteristics and sperm morphology of serow (Capricornis sumatraensis). Theriogenology 71:576-585

- Takeda N, Yoshinaga K, Furushima K, Takamune K, Li Z, Abe S-i, Aizawa S-i, Yamamura K-i (2016) Viable offspring obtained from Prm1-deficient sperm in mice. Scientific Reports 6:27409
- Tesarik J, Greco E, Mendoza C (2004) Late, but not early, paternal effect on human embryo development is related to sperm DNA fragmentation. Human Reproduction 19:611-615
- Tobita T, Tsutsumi H, Kato A, Suzuki H, Nomoto M, Nakano M, Ando T (1983) Complete amino acid sequence of boar protamine. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology 744:141-146
- Tourmente M, Gomendio M, Roldan ER (2011) Mass-specific metabolic rate and sperm competition determine sperm size in marsupial mammals. PloS One 6:e21244
- Verma A, Rajput S, Kumar S, De S, Chakravarty AK, Kumar R, Datta TK (2015) Differential histone modification status of spermatozoa in relation to fertility of Buffalo bulls. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 116:743-753
- Vilfan ID, Conwell CC, Hud NV (2004) Formation of native-like mammalian sperm cell chromatin with folded bull protamine. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279:20088-20095
- Ward WS (2010) Function of sperm chromatin structural elements in fertilization and development. Molecular Human Reproduction 16:30-36
- Wykes SM, Krawetz SA (2003) The structural organization of sperm chromatin. Journal of Biological Chemistry 278:29471-29477
- Wyrobek A, Meistrich M, Furrer R, Bruce W (1976) Physical characteristics of mouse sperm nuclei. Biophysical Journal 16:811-825
- Yelick PC, Balhorn R, Johnson P, Corzett M, Mazrimas J, Kleene K, Hecht N (1987) Mouse protamine 2 is synthesized as a precursor whereas mouse protamine 1 is not. Molecular and Cellular Biology 7:2173-2179
- Zalensky AO, Siino JS, Gineitis AA, Zalenskaya IA, Tomilin NV, Yau P, Bradbury EM (2002) Human testis/sperm-specific histone H2B (hTSH2B) molecular cloning and characterization. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277:43474-43480
- Zhang X, Gabriel MS, Zini A (2006) Sperm nuclear histone to protamine ratio in fertile and infertile men: evidence of heterogeneous subpopulations of spermatozoa in the ejaculate. Journal of Andrology 27:414-420
- Zhuang T, Hess RA, Kolla V, Higashi M, Raabe TD, Brodeur GM (2014) CHD5 is required for spermiogenesis and chromatin condensation. Mechanisms of Development 131:35-46

Zini A, Boman JM, Belzile E, Ciampi A (2008) Sperm DNA damage is associated with an increased risk of pregnancy loss after IVF and ICSI: systematic review and meta-analysis. Human Reproduction 23:2663-2668

## CHAPTER II

# TESTIS SPECIFIC HISTONE 2B IS ASSOCIATED WITH SPERM CHROMATIN DYNAMICS AND BULL FERTILITY

## Abstract

Bull fertility is the degree of sperm's ability to fertilize and activate the egg and support embryo development and this is critical for herd reproductive performance. We used the bull as a unique model organism for the study of male fertility because cattle genetics and physiology is similar to those of other mammals including humans. Moreover, reliable fertility data along with well-established *in vitro* systems are available for bovine. The objective of this original study was to ascertain evolutionary diversification and expression dynamics of Testis Specific Histone 2B (TH2B) in sperm from Holstein bulls with different fertility scores. The intensity of TH2B was determined by using flow cytometry in sperm from 13 high and 13 low fertility bulls. Expression levels of TH2B were measured using immunocytochemistry and Western blotting in sperm from five high and five low fertility bulls. Sequence identity, evolutionary distance and interactome of TH2B were evaluated by Emboss Dotmatcher, STRING and Cytoscape. Data were analyzed using linear mixed effects model and regression plots were drawn. The intensity of TH2B as measured by flow cytometry was significantly affected by an interaction between fertility group and fertility score (P=0.0182). The intensity of TH2B in sperm from the high fertility group decreased (P=0.0055) as

fertility increased. TH2B was consistently detectable in sperm and expression levels of TH2B decreased in relation to fertility in sperm from the high fertility group (P= 0.018). TH2B biological functions include male gamete generation, chromosome organization, DNA packaging, DNA conformation change, chromatin organization, nucleosome organization, chromatin disassembly, spermatid nucleus elongation, spermatid nucleus differentiation, sperm motility, chromatin organization, chromatin condensation, chromatin silencing, nucleus organization, and chromatin remodeling (P< 0.05). We determined the cellular localization and molecular physiology of TH2B using both computational and cell biology approaches. In addition to advancing the fundamental science of mammalian male gamete, the present findings can be potentially used to evaluate semen quality and predict male fertility in the future.

### Introduction

Spermatogenesis is the development of mature male germ cells in the testes capable of forming highly differentiated sex cells called spermatozoa. During mammalian spermatogenesis, complex biochemical and morphological transformations occur in the sperm head. The nucleus of a sperm progressively differentiates, undergoing chromosomal condensation, synapsis, genetic recombination, and extensive chromatin reorganization (Bellve, 1979; Bellve and O'brien, 1983). During this chromatin reorganization, occurring in the testis, basic histones are replaced by transition nuclear proteins, (TNPs) and then by protamines (Balhorn et al., 1984). Such displacement of nuclear proteins causes transformation in the shape of sperm head (Cho et al., 2003), hydrodynamicity and chromatin compaction, both of which are important for sperm motility and fertilization (Oliva, 2006). Replacement of canonical histones by testis

27

specific histones, for example histone 2B (H2B), to testis specific histone 2B (TH2B) causes relaxation of the histone-bound chromatin by increased eviction of canonical histones from sperm (Montellier et al., 2013).

Transition of H2B to TH2B sets nucleosome stability, ensuring a genome-wide change of nucleohistone to intermediate struct ural entities, which in turn are required for the assembly of TNPs (TNP1 & TNP2) and protamines (PRM1) (Montellier et al., 2013). TH2B induces open chromatin structure and plays a role in inter-nuclear protein replacement in sperm chromatin (Shinagawa et al., 2015). Chromatin remodelers, chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 5 (CHD5), and bromodomain-containing protein 4 (BRD4) aid TH2B during nuclear protein replacement in the sperm chromatin. While CHD5 is a member of the chromodomain helicase DNA binding (CHD) family and regulates sperm chromatin structure (Zhuang et al., 2014), BRD4 belongs to the bromodomain-containing protein family that regulates transcription of genes in sperm by binding to hyperacetylated genomic regions (Bryant et al., 2015).

The octamer-shaped nucleohistone complex consists of histones H2A, H2B, histone 3 (H3) and histone (H4), all involved in sperm DNA packaging. Along with protamines, they form a tightly coiled and compacted structure known as the toroidal model (Ward, 2010). Retained sperm histones are vital for the histone-bound genes activated before and/or after fertilization. Defects in sperm chromatin are linked to spontaneous abortion and failures of assisted reproductive techniques in human (Boe-Hansen et al., 2006; Cebesoy et al., 2006). These defects include disrupted DNA integrity due to mutations, and apoptotic DNA fragmentation as a result of exposure to environmental agents and free radicals (Andrabi, 2007; Anifandis et al., 2015a). Such disruptions of chromatin proteins, transcriptional factors, and aberrant histone methylation have been speculated to contribute to the decreased fertility in human (Anifandis et al., 2015b; Belokopytova et al., 1993). Abnormal protamine to histone ratios cause infertility (Aoki et al., 2006). Therefore, proper TH2B to protamine ratios are important for efficient packaging of sperm chromatin (Montellier et al., 2013). Functional significance of TH2B in the oocyte remains unclear, and the maternal TH2B might be involved in the release of protamines from sperm following fertilization of the egg, thereby facilitating incorporation of maternal histones into the chromatin of developing embryo (Shinagawa et al., 2014; Shinagawa et al., 2015).

Abnormal retention of histones in the sperm is an indication of immature sperm, and abnormal ratios of protamine to histone cause infertility (Aoki et al., 2006). Therefore, TH2B is a potential biomolecular marker useful for analysis of semen quality, potentially predicting bull fertility and sire's suitability for artificial insemination (AI). Better elucidation of the dynamic role of TH2B advances the understanding of its chromatin remodeling role in bull sperm. The present study was conducted to test the central hypothesis that different cellular intensities, expression levels, and localization of TH2B are associated with sperm chromatin dynamics and bull fertility. Bovine TH2B was localized in sperm head and its expression levels (p = 0.0055) and intensity (p =0.018) were lower in sperm from the high fertility bulls as compared to low fertility ones. Protein sequence of TH2B is conserved among human, rat, mouse and bovine. Further, TH2B has significant gene ontology terms for molecular functions in chromatin and DNA binding and biological functions in sperm development differentiation and motility, nucleosome assembly, chromatin remodeling and spermatid nucleus differentiation (P< 0.05). Because of the genetic and physiological similarities among mammals (Feugang et al., 2010; Kutchy et al., 2017; Ménézo and Hérubel, 2002; Sirard, 2017), the findings of the present study advance fundamental science of mammalian development and reveal potential biomolecular markers for semen evaluation and fertility prediction.

#### Methods

# **Experimental Design**

Cryopreserved semen straws from Holstein bulls (Alta Genetics, Inc., Watertown, WI, USA) were used in the present study. Straws from 26 bulls were used for the flow cytometry experiment (Table. 1) and 10 bulls were used for immunocytochemistry and Western blotting assays (Table. 2).

High fertility (HF) bulls			Low fertility (LF) bulls		
Bull Number/Name	Number of breeding 's	<i>In</i> <i>vivo</i> fertilit y score	Bull number/name	Number of breedin g's	In vivo fertilit Y score
11HO9467/Comish	705	3.9	11HO8060/Graham	974	-4.7
11HO9375/Discover	965	3.7	11HO7388/Kaleb	555	-4.2
11HO5570/Finley	2924	3.6	11HO8623/Damico	1083	-4.1
11HO9219/Alverez	737	3.5	11HO9455/Direct	793	-4.1
11HO6152/Bailiff	3137	3.4	11HO8524/Midnite	758	-4.1
11HO8245/Allegiance	859	3.4	11HO8128/Jetwave	862	-4.1
11HO8747/Rate	745	3.1	122HO2075/Mart	469	-4.1
11HO6671/Notion	2195	3	11HO8740/Navigator	892	-3.8
11HO8789/Formatic	1134	3	11HO4272/Dante	987	-3.7
11HO9269/Stateside	965	3	122HO1222/Champ	1105	-3.7
11HO4631/Oixie	682	2.9	11HO9492/Flyer	901	-3.6
11HO6440/Sylvester	3647	2.8	11HO8001/Cortland	927	-3.6
11HO5929/Ally	6051	2.6	11HO8105/Decker	1020	-3.6

Table 1Fertility phenotypes of the Holstein bulls used for flow cytometry analysis

Bulls 1–13 are designated as the HF group and bulls 14-26 are designated as the LF group. All bulls were individually represented with their *in vivo* fertility scores and the number of breeding's as well as no significant differences in their sperm parameters. Fertility scores are expressed as the percent deviation of each conception rate from the average conception rate of all the bulls during artificial insemination (AI) as previously described (de Oliveira et al., 2013).

Table 2	Fertility phenotypes of the Holstein bulls whose sperm were used for
	immunocytochemistry and Western blotting

High fertility (HF) bulls			Low fertility (LF) bulls		
Bull number/name	Number of breeding's	<i>In vivo</i> fertility score	Bull no	Number of breeding's	In vivo fertility score
11HO9375/ Discover	965	3.7	11HO7969/ Aurora	867	-4.9
11HO8064/ Derrick	1026	3.7	11HO8060/ Graham	974	-4.7
11HO5770/ Finley	2924	3.6	11HO7388/ Kaleb	555	-4.2
11HO6152/ Bailiff	3137	3.4	11HO9455/ Direct	793	-4.1
11HO8245/ Allegiance	859	3.4	11HO8623/ Damico	1083	-4.1

Bulls 1–5 are designated as the high fertility (HF) group and bulls 6-10 are designated as the low fertility (LF) group. All bulls were individually represented with their *in vivo* fertility scores and the number of breeding's. Fertility scores are expressed as the percent deviation of each conception rate from the average conception rate of all the bulls as previously described (de Oliveira et al., 2013).

Bulls are considered fertile if they repeatedly mount to serve females and bring about 90% pregnancies in 50 females in a nine-week time (Murphy et al., 2013). Therefore, high fertility (HF) bulls have 80-90% pregnancies in 50 females in a nineweek time, whereas low fertility (LF) bulls have 70-80% pregnancies in 50 females in a nine-week time and less than 40% is sub fertile. In our study, the bulls were divided as HF and LF as reported in detail in our previous publications (de Oliveira et al., 2013; Peddinti et al., 2008). Non-return rate (NRR-which is defined as portion of cows that are not subsequently re-bred within a specified period of time after an insemination) on day 40 after insemination were calculated for all bulls and the fertility score was ranked as the deviation of each NRR from the average. In the present study, we grouped the bulls with positive deviation from average NRR as HF and those animals with negative deviation from average as LF. Fertility data of the selected bulls are periodically updated with information from partnering herds (Peddinti et al., 2008). Then, we tested the hypothesis that different cellular intensities, expression levels, and localization of TH2B are associated with sperm chromatin dynamic and bull fertility using methods in immunocytochemistry, Western blotting, flow cytometry and bioinformatics.

### **Evaluation of TH2B expression in bull sperm by flow cytometry**

Flow cytometry experiments were performed according to methods described by Dogan *et al.* (Dogan et al., 2015) and Odhiambo *et al.* (Odhiambo et al., 2011), with modifications. Flow cytometry was used to quantify the TH2B cell population by passing individual sperm through a laser beam of the appropriate wavelength. The following settings for BD-FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Bioscience San Jose, CA 95131-1807, USA), were used; laser line 488 nm, emission filters 530/30 nm and fluorochrome 542 nm. TH2B molecules were conjugated to fluorescent antibodies to detect and quantify the presence of this protein. Semen straws from 26 Holstein bulls, 13 high fertility (HF) and 13 low fertility (LF), were removed from liquid nitrogen and thawed at 37°C for 30 sec. The extenders were then separated from the cells by centrifugation at 2,000 x g at 4°C for 5 min. and pellets were washed twice in washing buffer [WB: Phosphate buffer saline (PBS) with 0.1% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)] and again centrifuged at 2,000 x g at 4°C for 5 min. The pellets were then fixed in 1 ml of 4% formaldehyde at room temperature (RT) for 1 hr in separate centrifuge tubes. The samples were then centrifuged at 3,000 x g at 4°C for 5 min and pellets were resuspended in 250 µl of PBS and immediately permeabilized in 250 µl of 0.1% Triton X-100 in 0.1% sodium citrate in PBS on ice for 2 min. The pellets were resuspended in 500  $\mu$ l of PBS, filtered through a flow cytometric tube using a cell strainer cap (Becton Dickinson Labware; catalogue no. 352235), and then incubated with the primary antibody at 4°C overnight. Primary antibody was TH2B (Rabbit polyclonal to Testes Specific Histone H2B; Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 23913; 1/250 dilution). Next day, samples were centrifuged at 3,000 x g at 4°C for 5 min, washed once in 500 µl of washing buffer, centrifuged at 3,000 x g at 4°C for 5 min and incubated with secondary antibodies for two hours at RT. The secondary antibody was donkey anti-rabbit IgG-FITC (Santa Cruz, Dallas, Texas, USA; catalog # 2090; 1/250 dilution). Following incubation, the samples were washed twice in WB (3,000 g at  $4^{\circ}$ C for 5 min). Sperm samples were then analyzed using the BD-FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Bioscience San Jose, CA 95131-1807 USA).

#### Statistical methods used for flow cytometry

The effect of *in vivo* fertility on TH2B intensity as measured by flow cytometry was assessed using mixed model analysis with PROC MIXED with SAS for Windows 9.4. One straw per bull was used, and experiment was repeated three times. *In vivo* fertility group was the fixed effect and bull was included as a random effect. The relationship of fertility score and intensity was assessed through mixed model linear regression using PROC MIXED with SAS for Windows 9.4. In an initial model, fertility

score, fertility group, and their interaction term were included as fixed effects. The random statement included bull as a random effect. Fitting this model indicated the interaction between fertility score and fertility group was highly significant. Separate models with fertility score as the fixed effect were fit for both the high and low fertility groups to better understand the relationship between fertility score and intensity. The distribution of the conditional residuals was assessed to ensure the assumptions of the statistical models had been met. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance.

#### Visualization of Sperm TH2B using Immunocytochemistry

Immunocytochemistry was performed according to the methods described by Li et al. (Li et al., 2008) and de Oliveira et al. (de Oliveira et al., 2013), with modifications. Briefly, cryopreserved semen straws from five high fertility and five low fertility bulls were thawed in a water bath at 37°C for 30 seconds (sec). Sperm samples were washed with PBS containing protease inhibitors (cOmplete; Roche, Indianapolis, IN, USA; catalog # 04693116001), and 10 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA). Then, the solution was centrifuged at 2,000 × g at RT for 5 min. In addition, the sperm pellets were incubated with 20 mM CHAPS at RT for 20 min. Sperm chromatin was then decondensed in 10 mM DTT and 1 mg/ml of heparin at RT for 30 min (Motoishi et al., 1996). Moreover, sperm were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C for 10 min. Following fixation, cells were permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 and 0.1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS at RT for 15 min. Sperm were then washed in 50%, 70%, 95% and 100% ethanol at RT for 1 min each. The excess ethanol was removed by quick decanting followed by an additional step of fixation using 100% methanol at -20°C for 20 min. Excess methanol was removed using washing buffer (WB: PBS containing 0.1% Triton X-100; please note that the WB were different for flow cytometry and immunocytochemistry) and the sample was blocked with 1% BSA in the WB at RT for 1 hour (h). Sperm were probed with primary antibodies against TH2B (Rabbit polyclonal to Testes Specific Histone H2B; Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 23913; 1/200 dilution) at 4°C overnight followed by a washing step and probing with secondary antibody of donkey anti-rabbit IgG-FITC against TH2B (Santa Cruz, Dallas, Texas, USA; catalog # 2090; 1/5,000 dilution) at RT for 1 h, and then with 2.5 mg/ml of DAPI at RT for 10 minutes. Coverslips were placed onto the slides using a drop of an antifade mounting medium (VECTAshield, H-1000) and sealed using a nail polish border. The samples were examined under a confocal fluorescence microscope (Zeiss LSM 510) under 40X and 63X magnifications using immersion oil. The experiments were repeated three times and the data were statistically analyzed.

#### Statistical methods used for immunocytochemistry

The association of *in vivo* fertility scores with sperm TH2B intensity detected by immunocytochemistry was assessed using mixed model analysis with PROC MIXED with SAS for Windows 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). One straw was distributed into three replicates, three straws per bull were used and experiment was repeated three times. *In vivo* fertility group was the fixed effect in the model. The random statement included replicate within repeat, repeat within bull, and bull as random effects. The relationship of fertility score and intensity was assessed through mixed model linear regression using PROC MIXED with SAS for Windows 9.4. In an initial model, fertility score, fertility group, and their interaction term were included as fixed effects. The random statement included replicate within repeat, repeat within bull, and bull as random effects. Fitting this model indicated a no significant interaction between fertility score and fertility group but the fertility scores were widely separated between the two groups. Accordingly, separate models with fertility score as the fixed effect were fit for both the high and low fertility groups to better understand the relationship between fertility and TH2B intensity. Regression line plots were made using SGPLOT with SAS for Windows 9.4. The distribution of the conditional residuals was assessed to ensure the assumptions of the statistical models had been met. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance.

#### Extraction of nuclear sperm protein for Western blotting

Sperm TH2B was extracted according to the methods of Aoki *et al.* (Aoki et al., 2005) and de Oliveria *et al.* (de Oliveira et al., 2013), with some modifications. Briefly, cryopreserved semen straws from five high fertility and five low fertility bulls were thawed at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 30 sec and washed twice in PBS with protease inhibitor, centrifuging each time at 700 ×*g* at 4°C for 5 min. An aliquot containing 25-40 x 10<sup>6</sup> sperm was used to extract the nuclear proteins. In order to lyse the cells, sperm samples were washed twice with 400 µL of 1 mM Phenyl methylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) in ddH<sub>2</sub>O, centrifuged each time at 700 ×*g* at 4°C for 5 min. Then, 100 µL of 20 mM EDTA, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), and 100 mM Tris (pH 8.0) were added to the pellets followed by the addition of 100 µL of 6 M guanidine hydrochloride, 575 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), and 200 µL of 552 mM iodoacetamide. The samples were supplemented from light and incubated at 20°C for 30 min. In addition, the samples were supplemented

with 1 mL of cold ethanol (-20°C), and each sample was then incubated at -20°C for 1 min and centrifuged at 12,000 ×g at 4°C for 10 min. The ethanol wash was repeated once more and the pellet was resuspended in 1 mL of 0.5 M HCl and incubated at 37°C for 15 min and centrifuged at 10,000 ×g at 25°C for 10 min. The supernatant was kept and the nuclear proteins were precipitated by the addition of 300  $\mu$ L of 100% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) to a final concentration of 20% TCA. The solution was incubated at 4°C for 5 min and centrifuged at 12,000×g for 10 min. The pellet was washed twice in 500  $\mu$ L of 1% 2mercaptoethanol in acetone. The final pellet was dried out and stored at -30°C.

## Western blotting analyses of sperm nuclear proteins

Protein concentration in samples containing sperm protein extracts was determined in triplicates using Quick Start<sup>™</sup> Bradford Protein Assay Kit 2 (Bio Rad<sup>®</sup>, Hercules, CA, USA; catalogue # 5000202). In addition, sperm nuclear proteins were precipitated with cold acetone at -20°C for 3h, followed by centrifugation at 10,000 ×*g* at 4°C for 10 min. The supernatants were discarded and the pellets were resuspended in 50 µL of 1× Laemmli sample buffer (Bio Rad<sup>®</sup>, Hercules, CA, USA) with 5% 2mercaptoethanol, vortexed (10 sec), boiled for 10 min, and stored -30°C. An aliquot of sperm nuclear proteins (10 µg) was reduced, denatured and separated with a vertical polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (4-20% SDS-PAGE; Mini-Protean TGX<sup>™</sup> gel). Protein bands were transferred from the gels to an Immobilon<sup>®</sup>-P polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane using HEP-1 semi-dry electro blotting (Thermo-Scientific Inc<sup>®</sup>; Waltham, MA USA) set at 46mA for 2.5h. Binding sites were blocked with 5% BSA in PBS-0.1% Tween 20 (PBS-T) at RT under mild agitation for 1 h, followed by an incubation with primary antibodies against bovine TH2B (Abcam<sup>®</sup>, Cambridge, MA, USA; 1/1,000 dilution; rabbit polyclonal IgG; catalog #23913). Lamin B1 was used as internal loading control (Abcam<sup>®</sup>, Cambridge, MA, USA 1: 2,000, rabbit polyclonal IgG; catalog #16048; Abcam) in PBS-T with 1% of BSA at RT for 1 h. Because, the expression levels of Lamin B1 were not stable because we recorded some variation in its band among high and low fertility bulls, therefore another unknown protein band (~ 25 KDa) served as second internal control. Membranes were then washed three times for 10 min in PBS-T and incubated with secondary antibodies (1:10,000; donkey ant-rabbit IgG-HRP; sc-2313; Santa Cruz Biotechnology<sup>®</sup>) and Precision Protein<sup>™</sup> StrepTactin-HRP Conjugate (Bio Rad<sup>®</sup>, Hercules, CA, USA; 1/10,000; catalog # #1610380) in PBS-T with 1% of BSA at RT for 1 h. Membranes were washed with PBS-T three times for 5 min each. The bands were revealed using a chemoluminescence reagent (Clarity<sup>™</sup> Western ECL Substrate, Bio-rad<sup>®</sup>, Hercules, CA, USA) and Image Laboratory software (Bio-Rad<sup>®</sup>) for 30 sec. The band intensity of TH2B histone protein was analyzed using ImageJ 1.x (Schneider et al., 2012).

#### Statistical methods used for Western blotting

Association of *in vivo* fertility with sperm TH2B concentration was assessed using linear mixed model analysis with PROC MIXED with SAS for Windows 9.4. Three straws per bull were used and nuclear protein was extracted and blotted, same experiment was used three times (Table. 3). *In vivo* fertility, group of animals and their interaction were included as fixed effects in the model. The random statement included bull as a random effect. Separate models with fertility scores as the fixed effect were fit for both the high and low fertility groups to better understand the relationship between fertility scores and the TH2B levels. The relationship between fertility scores and levels of TH2B was assessed through the mixed model linear regression using PROC MIXED with SAS for Windows 9.4. The distribution of the conditional residuals was assessed to ensure that the assumptions for the statistical models had been met. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance.

Table 3Statistical model for flow cytometry, immunocytochemistry and Western<br/>blotting

Class	Levels	Values
Group	2	12
Bull/ Bull names	10	Allegiance Aurora Bailiff Damico Derrick Direct Discover Finley Graham Kaleb
Repeat	3	123
Replicate	3	123

Ten Holstein bulls were used for ICC and above model was followed. For WB protein was extracted from three straws together, whereas 26 animals were used for flow cytometry and above model was followed.

### Analyses of sequences and interactions of TH2B using bioinformatics

Emboss dotmatcher was used to compare protein sequences of predicted bovine

TH2B (predicted sequence was obtained from protein-NCBI;

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein/741900513) with human TH2B, bovine H2B with

human H2B, and bovine TH2B with bovine H2B (http://www.bioinformatics.nl/cgi-

bin/emboss) to ensure the sequence similarity of bovine TH2B for downstream

computational biology analysis. Protein sequences of predicted TH2B and H2B of bovine

were compared using computational tools. Protein sequences of TH2B and H2B were

first aligned using Clustal Omega method and the percent identity matrixes between the sequences were obtained (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalo/).

Predicted protein-protein interactions among TH2B, H2B, H2A, H3, H4 TNP1, TNP2, PRM1, BRD4 and CHD5 of bovine, human and mouse were obtained using STRING database (Search Tool for the Retrieval of Inter-Acting Proteins; http://string-db.org/) (Szklarczyk et al., 2014). The testis specific histone 2B (TH2B) in mature sperm interacts with chromatin proteins H2A, H3, H4, H1, TNP1, TNP2, PRM1, BRD4 and CHD5. Thus, the interactome of *TH2B* using the biological networks gene ontology tool (BiNGO) within Cytoscape 3.3 (http://www.cytoscape.org) was elucidated as well (Cline et al., 2007). To analyze the interactome of *HIST1H2B (TH2B)*, a merged-network was generated in Cytoscape by entering the query keywords "*HIST1H2B* for *TH2B*", "*H2A*", "*H3*", "*H4*", "*TNP1*", "*TNP2*", "*PRM1*", "*PRM2*", "*H2B*", "*BRD4*" and "*CHD5*" into the search bar and results were retrieved from the BiNGO plugin to assess overrepresentation of GO categories.

#### Results

## Expression dynamics of TH2B in bull sperm using flow cytometry

A total of 150,000 sperm per bull were analyzed to investigate the expression of testis specific histone 2B (TH2B) from 13 high fertility and 13 low fertility bulls (Table.1). Flow cytometric measurements of sperm TH2B showed different histogram profiles between HF and LF bulls (Table. 4; Fig. 1).

Group	Number of Observation	Mean	Std. Dev	Std. Error	Minimum	Maximum
High Fertility	39	16.94	9.85	1.58	3.36	48.60
Low Fertility	39	19.98	9.07	1.45	9.29	45.60

Table 4TH2B flow cytometry analysis between high and low fertility bulls.

High fertility bulls flow cytometry was repeated three times and the mean, standard deviation and standard error of analysis are reported in above table.



Figure 1 Differential expression of TH2B in sperm from bulls with different fertility scores.

The negative control showing the absence of TH2B fluorescence in the unstained sperm (A). Percentage of sperm expressing TH2B and unstained in high fertility bulls (B). The percentage of sperm in low fertility bulls expressing TH2B positive and unstained cells (C). The percentage of sperm in FL1-H subset indicates expression of TH2B.

As evaluated by regression analysis, the interactions between TH2B intensity (which are percentage of sperm positive for TH2B and emitting fluorescence) and fertility scores of bulls were significant (P=0.0182). The intensities levels of TH2B was highly significant compared to fertility score in the high fertility group (P= 0.0055; y = - 12.3828x + 56.9464) but no significance was found in the low fertility group (Fig. 2; y = 2.0450x + 28.0499).



#### Low fertility bulls



Figure 2 Regression models showing in the percentage of sperm positive for TH2B fluorescence (TH2B-intensity) as related to fertility scores in bulls

The regression line was determined using the model predicted intensity (which was determined as percentage of sperm positive for TH2B fluorescence) values for each value of fertility score using the mixed effects model. A scatter plot of unadjusted data points was superimposed on the regression line plot. Regression equations are shown for high fertility (y = -12.3828x + 56.9464) and low fertility (y = 2.0450x + 28.0499) bulls.

#### Cellular localization of TH2B in bull sperm using immunocytochemistry

We determined the cellular localization of TH2B in sperm of low versus high

fertile bulls using immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy.TH2B signal was

detectable in sperm head, concentrated over the equatorial and subacrosomal area of sperm. The signal was visualized as a band just beneath the acrosome, with a clear space between the base of the band and the proximal end of tail of sperm (Fig. 3).



Figure 3 Cellular localization of TH2B in bull spermatozoa

The intensity of FITC bound to TH2B protein. Dominant signal of TH2B coming from sperm head, depict merged images of two sperm using confocal microscope, showing expression dynamics and localization of TH2B in head of bovine spermatozoa.

The immunocytochemistry signal for TH2B was brighter in sperm of the low fertile than that of the high fertile bulls (Fig. 4 and Fig. 5; Table. 2). As evaluated by regression analysis, association between TH2B and bull fertility was not different. The fact that the signals measured by immunocytochemistry were obtained from 45 spermatozoa per bull could be the reason for the non-significance.



Figure 4 Immunostaining of TH2B in low and high fertility bull spermatozoa

TH2B in high fertility bull sperm

B.



Figure 5 Immunostaining of TH2B in low and high fertility bull spermatozoa

Intensity of TH2B in sperm from low (A) and high fertile bulls (B) using confocal microscopy. DNA stained with DAPI (blue) in a bull sperm; TH2B histone linked to FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (green) in bull sperm; merged images of DAPI and FITC; bright field images; and negative controls.

# Expression of TH2B in bull sperm using Western blotting

An immunoblotting approach was used to detect the expression of TH2B in the sperm from low *versus*. high fertility bulls. TH2B protein band intensity was analyzed using ImageJ (Schneider et al., 2012). Our results showed that the TH2B was consistently detectable in sperm from all of bulls (Fig. 6).



Figure 6 Detection of TH2B protein using Western blotting and regression models showing variation in the expression of TH2B in sperm as related to fertility scores in Holstein bulls

(A) MM stands for molecular markers; LF1-5 and HF1-5 refer to samples from low versus. high fertility bulls, respectively. The same amount of nuclear proteins were loaded into each lane. As TH2B is a nuclear protein and the expression levels of our internal control (Lamin B1) were not stable, another protein band (~ 25 KDa) served as the internal control. (B) The regression line was determined using the model predicted intensity values for each fertility score using the mixed effects model. A scatter plot of unadjusted data points was superimposed on the regression line plot. Regression equations are shown for high fertility (y = -22315x + 89049) and low fertility (y = 9603x + 50993) bulls.

The expression levels of TH2B were significantly affected by an interaction between fertility score and fertility group (P= 0.0058). In high fertility bulls, as fertility decreased, TH2B expression increased (P= 0.0182; y = -22315x + 89049) signifying that the bulls with the highest fertility had the least TH2B retention in their spermatozoa. In low fertility bulls, as fertility decreased, TH2B expression decreased (P= 0.0737; *y* = 9603x + 50993; Fig. 6) indicating that the bulls with the lowest fertility had the highest of retained TH2B in their spermatozoa.

#### **Bioinformatic analyses of TH2B and H2B**

Histone variant of TH2B was identified as the testis specific H2B (Shires et al., 1976; Trostle-Weige et al., 1982). TH2B is encoded by the gene *HIST1H2B* (Marzluff et al., 2002). Mouse *TH2B* gene as well as TH2B protein have been sequenced (Shinagawa et al., 2014), and a predicted sequence of bovine *TH2B* gene *HIST1H2BA* (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nuccore/XM\_010825421.2) has been used in our study, because bovine *TH2B* gene as well as TH2B protein have not been sequenced yet. The predicted gene *HIST1H2BA* (*TH2B*) had 85.7% similarity with known bovine *H2B*, using multiple sequence alignment method Clustal Omega

(<u>http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalo/</u>) (Sievers et al., 2011). Comparisons among predicted TH2B protein sequences in bovine and human revealed higher similarity patterns in the form of diagonal lines (Fig. 7).



Figure 7 Threshold dotplot of TH2B and H2B amino acids between bovine and human

The emboss dotmatcher of predicted TH2B of bull versus TH2B of human is a perfect diagonal line with two frame shift mutation sites (A). The emboss dotmatcher of H2B of bull versus. H2B of human revealed a low complexity region between bovine H2B and human H2B (B). Dotmatcher of TH2B of bull versus. H2B of bull showed two areas of different amino acids (C).

The comparison of predicted bovine TH2B sequence with human TH2B showed that the match was a perfect diagonal line with three frame shift mutation sites, which might have resulted in change in sequence of amino acids (A). Similarly, comparison between bovine H2B and human H2B showed the match was a perfect diagonal line having four frame shift mutation sites, resulted change in sequence of amino acids (B). The sequence comparison of bovine TH2B with bovine H2B showed two areas of different amino acids, due to frame shift mutations resulting in different amino acid sequences (C) (Zimin et al., 2009).

## Interactions among sperm nuclear proteins from bovine, human and mouse

We used the STRING database to depict the interactions of sperm proteins in human, mice, and bovines respectively. Analyses of the interactions of nuclear proteins of developed using STRING for human, mouse, and bovine (Fig. 8) showed the missing link as TH2B; which functions in mediating the transition of nuclear proteins from histone to protamine in bovine spermatozoa. In humans and mice, TH2B is known to interact with chromatin remodelers (BRD4 and CHD5) and is involved in replacement of histones with protamines but function(s) of bovine TH2B has yet to be discovered. However, we found the high prediction of likeliness that bovine TH2B is also involved in eviction of retained histones and replacement of those with highly basic protamines, while assisted by two chromatin remodelers BRD4 and CHD5 (Fig. 8).



Figure 8 Protein-protein interactions involving TH2B

TH2B/H1FNT involved in replacement of TNPs by protamines in human and mouse are depicted in (A; B) and the missing link with possibly same role in bovines (C)

# Interactome of testis specific histone 2B (TH2B)

The interactome networking of bovine TH2B with nuclear proteins (H2B, H2A,

H3, H4 TNP1, TNP2, PRM1, BRD4 and CHD5) showed the significant gene ontology

overexpression terms (P < 0.05; Table. 5).

GO-ID	Description	E-value	P-value
48232	Male gamete generation	1.16E-05	<0.0001
51276	Chromosome Organization	7.92E-07	<0.0001
7283	Spermatogenesis	1.16E-05	<0.0001
7276	Gamete generation	2.21E-05	<0.0001
6323	DNA packaging	2.43E-05	<0.0001
71103	DNA conformation change	2.43E-05	<0.0001
6333	Chromatin assembly or disassembly	2.43E-05	<0.0001
6325	Chromatin organization	1.35E-04	<0.0001
22414	Reproductive process	1.35E-04	<0.0001
30261	Chromatin condensation	1.59E-04	<0.0001
34728	Nucleosome organization	6.08E-04	<0.0001
31498	Chromatin disassembly	4.12E-03	0.00412
7290	Spermatid nucleus elongation	4.12E-03	0.00412
6337	Nucleosome assembly	4.12E-03	0.00412
32986	Protein-DNA complex disassembly	4.12E-03	0.00412
12	Single strand break repair	1.36E-02	0.0136
7289	Spermatid nucleus differentiation	1.36E-02	0.0136
6334	Nucleosome assembly	1.39E-02	0.0139

Table 5Gene Ontology (GO) overexpression terms for TH2B in bull.

Table 5 (Continued)

31497	Chromatin assembly	1.39E-02	0.0139
30317	Sperm motility	2.13E-02	0.0213
6338	Chromatin remodeling	2.78E-02	0.0278
6342	Chromatin silencing	2.78E-02	0.0278
6997	Nucleus organization	2.88E-02	0.0288
7286	Spermatid development	3.50E-02	0.0350
48515	Spermatid differentiation	3 63E-02	0.0363

<sup>48515</sup>Spermatid differentiation3.63E-020.0363The interactome of *TH2B* with *H2B*, *H2A*, *H3*, *H4 TNP1*, *TNP2*, *PRM1*, *BRD4* andCHD5 was generated using BiNGO of Cytoscape 3.3.

The interactome showed that TH2B is involved in male gamete generation, chromosome organization, spermatogenesis, gamete generation, DNA packaging, DNA conformation change, chromatin organization, reproductive process, nucleosome organization, chromatin disassembly, spermatid nucleus elongation, nucleosome assembly, protein-DNA complex disassembly, spermatid nucleus differentiation, sperm motility, chromatin organization, chromatin condensation, single strand break repair, chromatin assembly, chromatin silencing, nucleus organization, spermatid development, spermatid differentiation, and chromatin remodeling (Fig. 9).





Cytoscape was used in conjunction with large protein- protein databases, understanding protein-DNA and genetic interactions. The circles represent the genes, links represent the interactions, edges depict protein-protein interactions. The bigger circle indicates the significance of expression of that gene for the given process involved. The colors represent the involvement in same function or process

# Discussion

We conducted the present study to test the hypothesis that different cellular

intensities, expression levels, and localization of TH2B are associated with sperm

chromatin dynamics and bull fertility. To test such hypothesis, we used immunocytochemistry, Western blotting, flow cytometry and bioinformatic approaches.

Our study presents evidence that bovine TH2B was localized in the sperm head. The intensity of TH2B in sperm from high fertility bulls decreased as fertility increased (P = 0.018). The expression levels of TH2B decreased in sperm from high fertility bulls as fertility score increased (P = 0.0055) and increased in low fertility bulls but was not significant (P = 0.0737). Bovine TH2B and H2B sequences were highly similar (85.71%), as revealed by percent identity matrix (PIM) score. The H2B Emboss dotmatcher showed that the predicted bovine TH2B sequence is similar to TH2B of human, which has few possible frame shift mutation sites. Bovine H2B and human H2B have a remarkably perfect diagonal line match, revealing that H2B is highly conserved. STRING database (Szklarczyk et al., 2014)) was employed to provide a critical assessment, specific protein-protein interactions of bovine TH2B and sperm nuclear proteins, and comparisons with human and mouse proteins.

Since TH2B plays an important role in eviction of canonical histones and replacement of TNPs with protamines in the mouse (Montellier et al., 2013), disruption of *th2b* gene in the mouse resulted in absence of TH2B protein, causing sterility in mouse (Shinagawa et al., 2014). However, it was unclear to assign which testis specific histone is responsible for this paradigm shift. Our results suggest that, in the bovine, such histone is TH2B. The interactome of TH2B revealed that TH2B influences male gamete generation, chromosome organization, spermatogenesis, gamete generation, DNA packaging, DNA conformation change, chromatin organization, reproductive process, nucleosome organization, chromatin disassembly, spermatid nucleus elongation, nucleosome assembly, protein-DNA complex disassembly, spermatid nucleus differentiation, sperm motility, chromatin organization, chromatin condensation, single strand break repair, chromatin assembly, chromatin silencing, nucleus organization, spermatid development, spermatid differentiation, and chromatin remodeling with significant GO terms. All of these functions had not been known for bovine TH2B and hence we generated new knowledge on understanding chromatin dynamics and functions regulated by TH2B.

Our results shed light on the role of TH2B in shaping bovine sperm chromatin and interacting with chromatin remodeling proteins BRD4 and CHD5. The intensity as well as expression levels of TH2B were significantly lower in sperm from high fertility group, paving the way for increased incorporation of protamines into the matured sperm chromatin resulting into increased number of healthy sperm. However, this trend was completely reversed in low fertility group; higher TH2B retention resulting in less protamine incorporation into chromatin suggesting loosening of sperm chromatin and higher numbers of immature sperm. Another possibility is that eviction of the canonical histones by TH2B might be hindering the protamine incorporation to a certain level because of abnormal retention TH2B. This is consistent with the findings of Dogan *et al.* (2015) [27], who showed that sperm from high fertile bulls have higher protamine levels than those from low fertile bulls resulted in less amounts of TH2B in HF and increased retention of TH2B in LF bulls.

The TH2B fluorescence signal was faint in the sperm tail, probably because TH2B was not involved with sperm chromatin (de Oliveira et al., 2013). In this study, we used predicted gene and protein sequences for bovine TH2B (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/nuccore/XM\_010825421.2) because the actual bovine sequences have not yet been reported to NCBI. However, an 85% homology between human sperm TH2B and somatic H2B has been clearly demonstrated through laboratory experiments (Zalensky et al., 2002). Moreover, the homology between predicted bovine TH2B and H2B used in our computational analysis was 85.7%, signifying the similar proportion of changes in H2B to TH2B and possibly similar kind of roles in bovines.

In the bull, sperm chromatin dynamics was thought to be controlled by replacement of histones by protamines. This is a multi-step process involving chromatin remodelers BRD4, CHD5 and TH2B with a scope of many additional nuclear chromatin associated proteins. Therefore, the mechanisms of histone to protamine replacement are multi-cascade reactions, in which different chromatin remodelers such as BRD and CHD family proteins are involved in loosening the DNA nuclear protein binding in sperm chromatin. The results presented in our study advance the understanding of the role of TH2B in remodeling sperm chromatin dynamics.

#### Conclusions

Presence of TH2B variant in bull sperm initiates replacement of histones by TNPs and then by protamines, all of which are in accordance with the prior findings about the function of TH2B in the mouse (Montellier et al., 2013; Shinagawa et al., 2014; Shinagawa et al., 2015). In theory, the role of TH2B is in facilitating the histone to protamine transformation in bovine. Recently, researchers have shown that chromatin remodelers BRD4 and CHD5 regulate histone to protamine transition in sperm chromatin in the mouse (Montellier et al., 2013; Shinagawa et al., 2015). Our study about bovine functional genome also suggests that the chromatin compaction and eviction of histones
is dependent on all three proteins together, BRD4, CHD5 and TH2B, where TH2B may be involved in catalyzing that transformation. We analyzed TH2B networks in the chromatin of bovine sperm to depict the cellular location of TH2B variant, and to detect the TH2B protein. The results are significant because they help us better understand the mechanisms of chromatin compaction in bovine sperm and can be applicable in reproductive biotechnology in mammals including humans.

#### References

- Andrabi S (2007) Mammalian sperm chromatin structure and assessment of DNA fragmentation. Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics 24:561-569
- Anifandis G, Bounartzi T, Messini C, Dafopoulos K, Markandona R, Sotiriou S, Tzavella A, Messinis I (2015a) Sperm DNA fragmentation measured by Halosperm does not impact on embryo quality and ongoing pregnancy rates in IVF/ICSI treatments. Andrologia 47:295-302
- Anifandis G, Messini C, Dafopoulos K, Messinis I (2015b) Genes and conditions controlling mammalian pre-and post-implantation embryo development. Current Genomics 16:32-46
- Aoki VW, Liu L, Carrell DT (2005) Identification and evaluation of a novel sperm protamine abnormality in a population of infertile males. Human Reproduction 20:1298-1306
- Aoki VW, Liu L, Jones KP, Hatasaka HH, Gibson M, Peterson CM, Carrell DT (2006) Sperm protamine 1/protamine 2 ratios are related to in vitro fertilization pregnancy rates and predictive of fertilization ability. Fertility and Sterility 86:1408-1415
- Balhorn R, Weston S, Thomas C, Wyrobek AJ (1984) DNA packaging in mouse spermatids: synthesis of protamine variants and four transition proteins. Experimental Cell Research 150:298-308
- Bellve A (1979) The molecular biology of mammalian spermatogenesis. Oxford Reviews of Reproductive Biology 1:159-261
- Bellve A, O'brien D (1983) The mammalian spermatozoon: structure and temporal assembly. Academic Press, New York, pp 55-137
- Belokopytova IA, Kostyleva EI, Tomilin AN, Vorob'ev VI (1993) Human male infertility may be due to a decrease of the protamine P2 content in sperm chromatin. Molecular Reproduction and Development 34:53-57
- Boe-Hansen GB, Fedder J, Ersbøll AK, Christensen P (2006) The sperm chromatin structure assay as a diagnostic tool in the human fertility clinic. Human Reproduction 21:1576-1582
- Bryant JM, Donahue G, Wang X, Meyer-Ficca M, Luense LJ, Weller AH, Bartolomei MS, Blobel GA, Meyer RG, Garcia BA (2015) Characterization of BRD4 during mammalian postmeiotic sperm development. Molecular and Cellular Biology 35:1433-1448

- Cebesoy F, Aydos K, Unlu C (2006) Effect of sperm chromatin damage on fertilization ratio and embryo quality post-ICSI. Archives of Andrology 52:397-402
- Cho C, Jung-Ha H, Willis WD, Goulding EH, Stein P, Xu Z, Schultz RM, Hecht NB, Eddy EM (2003) Protamine 2 Deficiency Leads to Sperm DNA Damage and Embryo Death in Mice 1. Biology of Reproduction 69:211-217
- Cline MS, Smoot M, Cerami E, Kuchinsky A, Landys N, Workman C, Christmas R, Avila-Campilo I, Creech M, Gross B (2007) Integration of biological networks and gene expression data using Cytoscape. Nature Protocols 2:2366-2382
- de Oliveira RV, Dogan S, Belser LE, Kaya A, Topper E, Moura A, Thibaudeau G, Memili E (2013) Molecular morphology and function of bull spermatozoa linked to histones and associated with fertility. Reproduction 146:263-272
- Dogan S, Vargovic P, Oliveira R, Belser LE, Kaya A, Moura A, Sutoversusky P, Parrish J, Topper E, Memili E (2015) Sperm protamine-status correlates to the fertility of breeding bulls. Biology of Reproduction 92:92
- Feugang J, Rodriguez-Osorio N, Kaya A, Wang H, Page G, Ostermeier G, Topper E, Memili E (2010) Transcriptome analysis of bull spermatozoa: implications for male fertility. Reproductive Biomedicine Online 21:312-324
- Kutchy NA, Dogan S, Kaya A, Moura A, Memili E (2017) Sperm Chromatin Dynamics Associated with Male Fertility in Mammals. Animal Models and Human Reproduction: Cell and Molecular Approaches with Reference to Human Reproduction:427
- Li Y, Lalancette C, Miller D, Krawetz SA (2008) Characterization of nucleohistone and nucleoprotamine components in the mature human sperm nucleus. Asian Journal of Andrology 10:535-541
- Marzluff WF, Gongidi P, Woods KR, Jin J, Maltais LJ (2002) The human and mouse replication-dependent histone genes. Genomics 80:487-498
- Ménézo YJ, Hérubel F (2002) Mouse and bovine models for human IVF. Reproductive Biomedicine Online 4:170-175
- Montellier E, Boussouar F, Rousseaux S, Zhang K, Buchou T, Fenaille F, Shiota H, Debernardi A, Héry P, Curtet S (2013) Chromatin-to-nucleoprotamine transition is controlled by the histone H2B variant TH2B. Genes & Development 27:1680-1692
- Motoishi M, Goto K, Tomita K, OOKUTSU S, NAKANISHI Y (1996) Decondensation of Bull and Human Sperm Nuclei by Dithiothreitol and/or Heparin. Journal of Reproduction and Development 42:7-13

- Murphy C, Fahey A, Shafat A, Fair S (2013) Reducing sperm concentration is critical to limiting the oxidative stress challenge in liquid bull semen. Journal of Dairy Science 96:4447-4454
- Odhiambo J, Sutovsky M, DeJarnette J, Marshall C, Sutovsky P (2011) Adaptation of ubiquitin-PNA based sperm quality assay for semen evaluation by a conventional flow cytometer and a dedicated platform for flow cytometric semen analysis. Theriogenology 76:1168-1176
- Oliva R (2006) Protamines and male infertility. Human Reproduction Update 12:417-435
- Peddinti D, Nanduri B, Kaya A, Feugang JM, Burgess SC, Memili E (2008) Comprehensive proteomic analysis of bovine spermatozoa of varying fertility rates and identification of biomarkers associated with fertility. BMC Systems Biology 2:1
- Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW (2012) NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nat Methods 9:671-675
- Shinagawa T, Huynh LM, Takagi T, Tsukamoto D, Tomaru C, Kwak H-G, Dohmae N, Noguchi J, Ishii S (2015) Disruption of Th2a and Th2b genes causes defects in spermatogenesis. Development 142:1287-1292
- Shinagawa T, Takagi T, Tsukamoto D, Tomaru C, Huynh LM, Sivaraman P, Kumarevel T, Inoue K, Nakato R, Katou Y (2014) Histone variants enriched in oocytes enhance reprogramming to induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 14:217-227
- Shires A, Carpenter MP, Chalkley R (1976) A cysteine-containing H2B-like histone found in mature mammalian testis. Journal of Biological Chemistry 251:4155-4158
- Sievers F, Wilm A, Dineen D, Gibson TJ, Karplus K, Li W, Lopez R, McWilliam H, Remmert M, Söding J (2011) Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. Molecular Systems Biology 7:539
- Sirard M-A (2017) The Ovarian Follicle of Cows as a Model for Human. Animal Models and Human Reproduction: Cell and Molecular Approaches with Reference to Human Reproduction:127
- Szklarczyk D, Franceschini A, Wyder S, Forslund K, Heller D, Huerta-Cepas J, Simonovic M, Roth A, Santos A, Tsafou KP (2014) STRING v10: protein– protein interaction networks, integrated over the tree of life. Nucleic Acids Research:gku1003

- Trostle-Weige P, Meistrich M, Brock W, Nishioka K, Bremer J (1982) Isolation and characterization of TH2A, a germ cell-specific variant of histone 2A in rat testis. Journal of Biological Chemistry 257:5560-5567
- Ward WS (2010) Function of sperm chromatin structural elements in fertilization and development. Molecular Human Reproduction 16:30-36
- Zalensky AO, Siino JS, Gineitis AA, Zalenskaya IA, Tomilin NV, Yau P, Bradbury EM (2002) Human testis/sperm-specific histone H2B (hTSH2B) molecular cloning and characterization. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277:43474-43480
- Zhuang T, Hess RA, Kolla V, Higashi M, Raabe TD, Brodeur GM (2014) CHD5 is required for spermiogenesis and chromatin condensation. Mechanisms of Development 131:35-46
- Zimin AV, Delcher AL, Florea L, Kelley DR, Schatz MC, Puiu D, Hanrahan F, Pertea G, Van Tassell CP, Sonstegard TS (2009) A whole-genome assembly of the domestic cow, Bos taurus. Genome Biology 10:1

# CHAPTER III

# ACETYLATION AND METHYLATION OF SPERM HISTONE 3 LYSINE 27 (H3K27AC AND H3K27ME3) ARE ASSOCIATED WITH BULL FERTILITY

### Abstract

Epigenetic modifications in histones are crucial for proper sperm physiology, egg activation and reproductive development of males. The objectives of this study were to determine the conservation and interactomes of histone three (H3) and ascertain the expression levels of acetylated and methylated H3 lysine 27 (H3K27ac and H3K27me3) in sperm from Holstein bulls with different fertility. Methods in immunocytochemistry and flow cytometry were used to evaluate the expression dynamics of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 in sperm from 10 bulls with different *in vivo* fertility. Computational biology methods including Clustal Omega and Cytoscape were performed to determine the evolutionary conservation and interactome of H3. The posttranslational modifications (PTM) of H3 (H3K27ac and H3K27me3) had different localizations in the sperm head. Intensities of methylation were higher than those of acetylation and inversely correlated between the two fertility groups (p = 0.0032). The interacting proteins of H3 are involved in critical subcellular processes such as regulation of methylation, nucleosome assembly, regulation of DNA replication, and chromatin assembly. In conclusion, the present results are significant because they help advance fundamental science and biotechnology of mammalian reproduction using the bull which is a suitable model for the study of

mammalian reproduction and development due to its close similarities in genetics and physiology to other mammals and humans.

# Introduction

The ability of sperm to fertilize and activate the egg and to support embryonic development is critical for bovine reproduction, development and cattle production. During spermiogensis, most of the histone nuclear proteins are replaced with protamines, thus causing much greater chromatin condensation (Balhorn, 2007; Ward and Coffey, 1991). This process is crucial because inadequate histone replacement correlates with bull subfertility (Dogan et al., 2015). The remaining histones are not randomly dispersed as would be expected from inefficient replacement, but they are instead enriched at loci important for embryonic development (Arpanahi et al., 2009; Brunner et al., 2014; Hammoud et al., 2009). In addition, histone retention in sperm occurs over repeat elements such as long and short interspersed nuclear elements (LINE and SINE) (Carone et al., 2014; Pittoggi et al., 1999; Samans et al., 2014), pericentric repeats (Carone et al., 2014; Govin et al., 2007; Samans et al., 2014; Van der Heijden et al., 2006).

Retained histones in sperm undergo PTMs that regulate gene expression in a spatiotemporal manner (Kouzarides, 2007). Further, these histone modifications act as epigenetic tags on paternal genes and are passed to the offspring (Guerrero-Bosagna and Skinner, 2014). The influence of the PTMs in sperm chromatin has a significant impact on correct chromatin conformation by which stability of histone octamer as well as interaction between histones and DNA are attained (Bao et al., 2013; Bao and Bedford, 2016; Bedford and Richard, 2005). Therefore, these distinct and localized PTMs of

histone in conjunction with chromatin remodelers bromodomain containing protein 4 (BRD4; (Bryant et al., 2015), chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 5 (CHD5; (Zhuang et al., 2014), testis specific histone 2B (TH2B;(Montellier et al., 2013; Shinagawa et al., 2015) as well as other effector modelers, play important roles in sperm chromatin remodeling, eviction of histones, and proper histone-protamine replacement. Additionally, it has been observed that increased H3 methylation in mature human sperm relates to poor sperm motility and functional quality (La Spina et al., 2014).

Proposed by Jenuwein and Allis in 2001, the "histone code" hypothesis states that histones and their posttranslational modifications regulate epigenetic information (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001). Since then, much has been discovered about the epigenetic function of histones and their associations with male fertility. Chow et al. found that histone 3.3, a histone variant that differs from canonical histone 3.1 by five amino acids, is enriched at the promoters of active genes (Chow et al., 2005). Histones regulate gene expression via PTMs such as acetylation and methylation. Acetylation of histories are highly conserved across mammals (Grimes and Henderson, 1984; Meistrich et al., 1992; Oliva and Mezquita, 1982). Acetylation of lysine is known to affect chromatin by decreasing the positive charge of histones that causes a weak histone to negatively charged DNA interaction resulting in increased chromatin fluidity (Bao and Bedford, 2016). Methyltransferases catalyze methylation of lysine in the histone (Rivera et al., 2014). These posttranslational modifications of the core histories can also affect the male genome's accessibility to maternal transcription factors during embryo development (Miller et al., 2010). Recently, Verma et al. (Verma et al., 2015) demonstrated that

trimethylated histone 3 lysine 27 (H3K27me3) differed at various genomic loci important for sperm function and embryonic development in *Bubalus bubalis*.

Noncompensable infertility, a class of low fertility status that is not improved by increasing the number of sperm, is likely caused by genetic and molecular defects in the sperm (Blaschek et al., 2011). Bovine sperm share many physiological and genetic similarities with that of other mammals, and reliable fertility phenotypic data are available for bulls. Also, there are interactions among the expression dynamics of the post-translationally modified sperm H3, its evolutionary conservation as well as the biological networks. It is known that acetylated and methylated H3K27 affect gene expression through activation (Heintzman et al., 2009; Pradeepa, 2017; Tie et al., 2009) and repression (Filion et al., 2010; Kharchenko et al., 2011; Li et al., 2014; Tie et al., 2009), respectively. According to Hammoud et al (2009), mouse spermatozoa carry histones and their posttranslational modifications (PTM) which are enriched at loci with developmental importance including clusters of imprinted genes, miRNAs, HOX genes, and the promoters of stand-alone developmental transcription and signaling factors. We intended to compare the PTM of histone 3 lysine 27 in sperm from bulls with different fertility to ascertain to what extent the levels of histone 3 acetylation/methylation are associated with bull fertility. Thus, increased knowledge about H3 may provide solutions for male noncompensable infertility. In addition, because fertility is critical for cattle agriculture, molecular markers and mechanisms can be used to improve efficiency of cattle reproduction (Sagirkaya et al., 2006). The objectives of this study were to determine the conservation and interactomes of H3 and ascertain the expression

dynamics of acetylated and methylated H3K27 in sperm from Holstein bulls with different fertility.

# Materials and methods

# **Experimental design**

Cryopreserved semen straws from five high fertility (HF) and five low fertility

(LF) Holstein bulls were used (Table. 6).

Table 6Fertility phenotypes of Holstein bulls whose sperm were used for flowcytometry analysis.

Bull number	Number of breeding's	In vivo fertility score
High fertility (HF) bulls		
1	737 —	3.5
2	965	3.0
3	682	2.9
4	3647	2.8
5	6051	2.6
Low fertility (LF) bulls		P= 0.2001
6	758	-4.1
7	862	-4.1
8	892	-3.8
9	1105	-3.7
10	1020	-3.6

Bulls 1–5 are designated as the high HF group and bulls 6-10 are designated as the LF group. All bulls were individually represented with their *in vivo* fertility scores (p < 0.0001) and the number of breeding's (p = 0.2001). Fertility scores are expressed as the

percent deviation of each conception rate from the average conception rate of all the bulls as previously described de Oliveira *et al.* (2013).

Determination of bull fertility was described previously (Peddinti et al., 2008), and the fertility phenotypes were distributed into HF and LF groups (de Oliveira et al., 2013). Although the number of breedings between the HF and LF bulls was not significant (p = 0.2001), fertility scores between HF and LF bulls were different (p <0.0001) (Table. 5), although semen parameters between groups were not different. Immunocytochemistry and flow cytometry experiments were performed using sperm samples from 10 bulls to determine the expression dynamics of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 as related to bull fertility. Computational biology methods and software, including Clustal Omega (Goujon et al., 2010; Sievers et al., 2011) and Ctyoscape (Shannon et al., 2003), were applied to determine the conservation and interactome of bovine histone H3.

# Immunolocalization of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 in bull sperm

Immunocytochemistry was performed to ascertain the localization of acetylated and trimethylated histone 3 lysine 27 (H3K27) in bovine sperm. First, cover slips were cleaned using 70% ethanol, then air-dried and kept at 37°C for 30 minutes (min). Five hundred (500)  $\mu$ l of 0.1% Poly-L-Lysine solution was spread on one side of each cover slip, which were then incubated at 37°C for 10 min. Excess Poly-L-Lysine solution was removed and the cover slips were allowed to dry at 37°C for 60 min.

Bull semen straws were removed from liquid nitrogen and thawed at 37°C for 30 seconds (sec). The samples were transferred into 1 mL of PBS (pH 7.4) supplemented with protease inhibitors and 10 mM EDTA (pH 8.0) in a sterile centrifuge tube, then centrifuged at 2,000 g at RT for five min. Sperm pellets were resuspended in 1 mL of 20

mM ChAPS in PBS and incubated at RT for 20 min. Samples were then centrifuged at 2000 g at RT for five minutes and pellets were resuspended in 1 mL of PBS and mixed by pipetting. Next, 50  $\mu$ L of sperm suspension was incubated with 450  $\mu$ L of decondensation solution (10 mM DTT and 1 mg/ml of heparin) at RT for 30 min. Five hundred  $\mu$ l of sperm suspension was uniformly distributed over at least two coverslips and sperm was allowed to settle at RT for 10 minutes. The solution was then decanted from the coverslips and cells were fixed with 200  $\mu$ L of 4% formaldehyde in PBS at 4°C for 10 min. Excess of fixation solution was then removed. In order to permeabilize the cells, the coverslips were overlaid with 1 mL of 0.2% Triton X-100, 0.1% bovine serum albumin in PBS at RT for 15 min on a shaker machine.

The cover slips were dehydrated with 200 µL of 50% ethanol for one min and this procedure was repeated with 70% ethanol, 95% ethanol and 100% ethanol. The cover slips were then allocated in small petri dishes with the lysine coat face up. Next, each coverslip was immersed in 1 mL of 100% methanol and incubated at -20°C for 20 min, and the excess solution was removed. The coverslips were then washed three times with 1 mL washing buffer (PBS + 0.1% Triton X) for 1 min each, overlaid with 1 mL of blocking buffer (1% BSA + 0.1 % Triton X-100 in PBS) for 60 min and placed on a shaker machine. Once the blocking buffer was removed, slips were incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4°C. Primary antibodies were mouse monoclonal anti trimethylated H3K27 (H3K27me3) (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 6002; 1/200 dilution) and rabbit polyclonal anti acetylated H3K27 (H3K27ac) (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 4729; 1/200 dilution). The next day, slides were washed twice in 1 mL of washing buffer for 5 min each and coverslips were probed with

secondary antibody of goat anti-mouse IgG H&L (DyLight® 650) against H3K27me3 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 96874; 1/5,000 dilution) and donkey antirabbit IgG-FITC against H3K27ac (Santa Cruz, Dallas, Texas, USA; catalog # 2090; 1/5,000 dilution) and at room temperature (RT) for 1 hour (h). Coverslips were then overlaid with 500 µl of DAPI solution (2.5 µg/mL) for 10 min at RT. Excess DAPI solution was removed and slides were washed with 500 µL PBS. One drop of mounting medium (VECTAshield, H-1000) was placed on each coverslip with the coated side face down, and all four sides of the coverslip were sealed with clear nail polish. Once the nail polish was dry (10-15 min, RT), samples were stored and protected from light until they were analyzed using a confocal fluorescence microscope (Zeiss LSM 510) under 40X and 63X magnifications using immersion oil.

# Evaluation of H3K27ac versus H3K27me3 in bull sperm by flow cytometry

Flow cytometry was performed in the present study to quantify the enrichment of acetylated and trimethylated H3K27 in bovine sperm. Semen straws from 10 Holstein bulls, five high fertility (HF) and five low fertility (LF), were removed from liquid nitrogen and thawed at 37°C for 30 sec. The extenders were then separated from the samples by centrifuging at 1000 *g* at 4°C for 5 min and pellets were washed twice in PBS with 0.1% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and again centrifuged at 1000 *g* at 4°C for 5 min. The pellets were then fixed in 1 mL of 4% formaldehyde at RT for 1 hour in separate centrifuge tubes. The samples were then centrifuged at 5000 *g* at 4°C for 5 minutes and pellets were resuspended in 250  $\mu$ L of PBS and immediately permeabilized in 250  $\mu$ L of 0.1% Triton X-100 in 0.1% sodium citrate in PBS on ice for 2 min. The pellets were resuspended in 500  $\mu$ L of PBS, filtered through a flow cytometric tube using

a cell strainer cap (Becton Dickinson Labware; catalogue no. 352235), and then incubated with the primary antibodies at 4°C overnight. The primary antibodies used were mouse monoclonal anti trimethylated H3K27 (H3K27me3) (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 6002; 1/200 dilution) and rabbit polyclonal anti acetylated H3K27 (H3K27ac) (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 4729; 1/200 dilution). Next day, samples were centrifuged at 3000 *g* at 4°C for 5 min, washed once in 500  $\mu$ L washing buffer, centrifuged at 3000 *g* at 4°C for 5 minutes and incubated with secondary antibodies at RT for two hours. The secondary antibodies were goat anti-mouse IgG H&L (DyLight® 650) (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 96874; 1/200 dilution) and donkey anti-rabbit IgG-FITC (Santa Cruz, Dallas, Texas, USA; catalog # 2090; 1/200 dilution). Following the incubation, the samples were washed twice in PBS with 0.1% BSA (3, 000 *g* at 4°C for 5 min). Sperm samples were then analyzed using the BD-FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Bioscience, USA).

#### Statistical methods employed for flow cytometric data

Mean values of H3K27me3, H3K27ac, and H3K27me3&H3K27ac were determined for each replicate within each repeat for each bull and were used for further analysis. One straw was distributed into two replicates and experiment was repeated three times. The effects of fertility on H3K27me3 and H3K27ac were assessed using mixed model analysis with PROC MIXED with SAS for Windows 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). Group, fertility score and their interactions were included as fixed effects. In addition, separate linear mixed models with fertility score as the fixed effect were fit for both the high and low fertility groups to better understand the relationship between fertility score and both H3K27me and H3K27ac. Separate linear mixed models were also fit with H3K27me3 or H3K27ac as response variables with group as a fixed effect as well as H3K27ac or H3K27me3, respectively. Another linear mixed model was fit to assess the effect of fertility group on H3K27me3&H3K27ac. In each of the linear mixed models, repeat within bull and bull were included as random effects and the KENWARDROBER denominator degrees of freedom option was used. Furthermore, separate analyses of variance using PROC MIXED were performed to determine to what extent there were differences between fertility groups for fertility score and breeding. Regression line plots were made using PROC SGPLOT. The regression line was determined using the model-predicted intensity values for each value of fertility score using the mixed effects model. Diagnostic plots of residuals for each outcome were assessed to ensure the assumptions of the statistical method had been met. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance.

# Analysis of H3 conservation

H3 amino acid sequences were obtained from the UniProt online database (Apweiler et al., 2004) for eight mammalian species: *Bos taurus, Bos mutus, Canis lupis familiaris, Equus caballus, Homo sapiens, Macaca mulatta, Mus musculus, and Rattus norvegicus.* The sequences were first aligned using Clustal Omega (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalo/) (Goujon et al., 2010; Sievers et al., 2011), and then the percent identity matrixes for the sequences were obtained. In this case, sequences were highly similar for a meaningful phylogenetic tree to be generated. The Conserved Domains Database was used to obtain protein sequence and structure data were chosen to identify protein domains, *i.e.*, distinct units of protein structures and functions (Marchler-Bauer and Bryant, 2004). A CD-Search was performed using bovine H3.1 amino acid sequence. H3's conserved domains were identified.

#### **Analysis of H3 Interactome**

Gene ontology data, gene related sequences, and relevant resources were obtained from the NCBI Gene database (Brown et al., 2015). Following a comprehensive search using the bovine H3.1 amino acid sequence, gene ontology data were retrieved to provide more insights into the functions of H3. We employed Cytoscape version 3.4.0 (Shannon et al., 2003) to analyze the interactome of H3. A merged-network was generated in Cytoscape by entering the query keywords "hist1h3a", "hist1h3b", and "hist1h3c" into Ctyoscape's database search bar and importing the results found from the BioGrid and Uniprot databases. Cytoscape's ClusterViz app was then utilized for cluster searching by using its EAGLE algorithm (Wang et al., 2015).

### Results

# Cellular localization of H3K27me3 and H3K27ac in bull sperm

We determined the cellular localizations of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 in the sperm of both low and high fertile bulls using immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy. Both H3K27ac and H3K27me3 signal intensities were detectable in the sperm head. While a weak signal of H3K27ac was present all-around the sperm head (Fig. 10), a strong signal was detected for H3K27me3 appearing as a crown around the sperm head (Fig.11).



Figure 10 Cellular localization and intensity of H3K27ac in bull sperm.

Immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy were used to evaluate localizations and intensities of H3K27ac in bull sperm. (A1) DNA stained with DAPI (blue) in a bull sperm. (A2) H3K27ac histone stained with FITC conjugated secondary antibody (green) in bull sperm. (A3) Negative control (which is secondary antibody and DAPI only). (A4) Bright field images. (A5) Merged images of DAPI, bright field and FITC.



Figure 11 Cellular localization and intensity of H3K27me3 in bull sperm.

Immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy were employed to illuminate spatiotemporal localizations and intensities of H3K27me3 in bull sperm, as determined by immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy. (B1) DNA stained with DAPI (blue) in a bull sperm. (B2) Bright field images. (B3) Negative control (which is secondary antibody and DAPI only). (B4) H3K27me3 histone stained with DyLight 550 conjugated secondary antibody (red) in bull sperm. (A5) Merged images of DAPI, bright field and DyLight 550.

# Flow cytometric analysis of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 expression in sperm from HF and LF bulls

Total of 150,000 sperm were analyzed by flow cytometry to investigate the

expression of methylation of H3 and acetylation of H3 in sperm from five high fertility

and five low fertility bulls. Flow cytometric measurements of sperm H3K27ac and

H3K27me3 showed different histogram profiles between HF and LF bulls (Fig. 12A-E).



Figure 12 Differential expression of H3K27ac and H3K27me3 in bovine sperm.



US: Unstained sperm





Figure 12 (Continued)



US: Unstained sperm





Figure 12 (Continued)

The negative control showing the absence of fluorescence and are unstained sperm (UN) (Fig. A-C). Percentage of sperm expressing H3K27ac, H3K27me3, double positive and unstained cells in high fertility bulls (Fig. D). The percentage of sperm in low fertility bulls expressing H3K27ac, H3K27me3, double positive and unstained sperm (Fig. E). The percentage of sperm expressing H3K27me3 are present in Q1 (Quadrant). Sperm positive for the both H3K27ac and H3K27me3 are present in Q2. The percentage of sperm which does not express either H3K27ac or H3K27me3 are unstained (UN sperm) in Q4.

Sperm from high and low fertility sires presented higher levels of methylation of histone 3 (H3K27me3) as compared to the levels of acetylation of histone 3 (H3K27ac; Table 7; Fig. 13A-C).

Table 7.Average value of unstained sperm, sperm positive for H3K27ac,<br/>H3K27me3 positive, double positive (H3K27ac + H3K27me3) positive<br/>from HF and LF bulls

					1121-27	Tatal	Tatal
		Unstained	H3K27me3	H3K27ac	me3ac	H3K27me3	H3K27ac
Group	High fertility (HF) bulls						
1	11HO5929						
	Ally	47.58	20.19	2.41	29.81	50.00	32.21
	11HO9219						
	Alverez	55.10	11.62	9.30	24.00	35.61	33.30
	11HO4631						
	Oixie	49.53	19.18	2.49	28.80	47.98	31.29
	11HO9269						
	Stateside	42.08	8.17	8.74	40.99	49.17	49.73
	11HO6440						
	Sylvester	54.03	23.61	2.70	19.63	43.23	22.32
Group	Low fertility (LF) bulls						
2	11HO1222						
	Champ	66.93	14.13	2.94	16.02	30.15	18.95
	11HO8105						
	Decker	47.80	16.14	7.65	28.43	44.57	36.08
	11HO8128						
	Jetwave	47.30	16.59	2.66	33.46	50.05	36.19
	11HO8524						
	Midnite	43.25	9.74	5.57	41.43	51.17	47.00
	11HO8740						
	Navigator	47.67	23.14	2.99	26.18	49.32	29.17

Differences between average values of unstained sperm, H3K27ac positive sperm, H3K27me3 positive sperm, average of double positive (H3K27ac + H3K27me3) positive sperm, average of total positive H3K27ac and average of total positive H3K27me3 between high fertility (HF) and low fertility (LF) bulls.





Figure 13 Differences between average of acetylation and methylation of H3K27.

Bulls, irrespective of fertility group (A&B), showed significant methylation of histone 3 (H3K27me3) compared to the acetylation of histone 3 (H3K27ac; p = 0.0032; C).

Further, the H3K27me3 signal intensity was inversely proportional to signals of H3K27ac between high and low fertility bull spermatozoa (p = 0.0032; Fig. 14; y = -0.5668x + 18.4277).



Figure 14 Differences between sperm acetylation and methylation of H3K27.

Regression plot depicts the inverse relationship of H3K27me3 and H3K27ac within two groups (p = 0.0032; y = -0.5668x + 18.4277).

# **Conservation of H3 across mammals**

Based on the Clustal Omega sequence alignment and percent identity matrix of both H3 protein as well as *H3* transcript among mammals, H3 is highly conserved among the mammals selected (96.32-100%; Table. 8).

Nucleotide Percent Identity Score									
Histone 3	Bos.	Ното	Mus	Rattus	Equus	Macaca	Canis lupus	Bos	
	taurus	sapiens	musculus	norvegicus	caballus	mulatta		mutus	
Bos taurus		82.76	84.69	83.88	85.52	80.41	89.50	90.06	
Homo sapiens	100		84.10	85.87	85.68	81.51	83.02	86.26	
Mus musculus	100	100		93.61	87.01	81.87	88.13	88.89	
Rattus norvegicus	100	100	100		86.20	80.81	87.94	87.43	
Equus caballus	100	100	100	100		81.62	90.93	91.52	
Macaca mulatta	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32		81.96	83.33	
Canis lupus	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32		93.57	
Bos mutus	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32	96.32		
Amino Acid Percent Identity Score									

Table 8Percent identity matrix nucleotide and amino acid calculated between<br/>different mammals for *Histone 3*.

H3 amino acid and nucleotide sequences were aligned and the percent identity matrix was determined using Clustal Omega. The amino acid sequences are 96.32-100% identical with one another and nucleotide sequences were significantly similar.

Because H3 amino acid sequences are highly conserved, all of its domains are also conserved. A superfamily contains conserved domain models which generate overlapping annotations for the same protein sequences, while multi-domains are computationally detected domains that likely contain multiple domains within them (Marchler-Bauer et al., 2014). Amino acids 1-57 of H3 were identified as belonging to the PAF (PCNA-Associated Factor) superfamily and amino acids 1-132, as part of the Histone multi-domain. The entire sequence was identified as belonging to the H4 superfamily. The PAF superfamily contains PCNA-associated factor protein, which is involved in chromatin binding (Brown et al., 2015). Histone multi-domain and H4 2014). The conserved domain data revealed involvement of H3 in PAF superfamily, H4 superfamily and histone multi domain.

# Interactomes of H3 with other sperm specific proteins and significant gene ontology (GO) terms

The interactome of H3 contains 209 nodes and 224 edges and the cluster identified by the ClusterViz app harbors 28 nodes and 30 edges. This cluster includes chromatin assembly factor 1 (CHAF1B), centromere protein A (CENPA), codanin 1 (CDAN1), PHD finger protein 1 (PHF2), hepatoma-derived growth factor (HDGF) and integrin (ITGA4) (Fig. 15).



Figure 15 Cluster from H3's interactome generated by Cytoscape's.

ClusterViz application (with 28 nodes and 30 edges).

Such proteins are involved in regulation of H3K27 methylation, nucleosome assembly, regulation of DNA replication and chromatin assembly (Fig. 16) (Stark et al., 2006). Figure 6 shows the full H3 interactome while Figure 16 presents the largest cluster from within H3 interactome. Gene ontology data of H3 retrieved from the NCBI Gene database indicate that H3 is significantly involved in key processes including DNA binding, protein binding, histone binding, and protein heterodimerization.



Figure 16 The interactome of H3 generated by Cytoscape, containing 209 nodes and 224 edges.

Each node represents a gene that encodes for a protein interacting with H3. The nodes are color-coded by species of origin: blue indicates *Homo sapiens*, orange indicates *Mus musculus*, and white indicates species other than *Mus musculus* and *Homo sapiens*.

### Discussion

Mature sperm of human and bovine are bound to protamines at approximately, 97.1% in human and 86.6% in bovine (Samans et al., 2014), hence bovine sperm retains around 13.4% of histones. Abnormal retentions of these histone affect the histone: protamine ratio. Post translational modifications of the histones in bovine sperm are completely unknown. Lack of such knowledge is important because it is hindering advances in the fundamental science of mammalian gametes and reproductive biotechnology. Our study is the first to evaluate levels of two prominent histone modifications in high and low fertility bulls. Most of the acetylation modifications occur prior to histone to protamine exchange in sperm. This massive acetylation relaxes the sperm chromatin and facilitates exchange of nuclear proteins (Buffone et al., 2004). Trimethylation of histone 3 at lysine 27 is associated with repression of transcription as well as with control of gene expression in male reproductive tract, differentiation of spermatocytes and X- chromosome in activation (Glaser et al., 2009; Turner et al., 2005). The H3K27ac and H3K27me3 as two histone signatures in mature sperm are the marks of understanding the differences of low and high fertility in bulls as well as infertility in human population.

Our findings suggest that abnormalities in H3K27 acetylation and methylation in bovine sperm might be reflective of abnormal spermiogenesis as well as indicator of

ability of the sperm to fertilize and activate the egg and support embryo development. The present study reports newly generated knowledge concerning the epigenetic regulation of bull fertility via acetylated and trimethylated H3 lysine27 in sperm. Using immunocytochemistry, flow cytometry, and tools in bioinformatics, we present evidence that posttranslational modifications of H3 (H3K27ac and H3K27me3) were localized in sperm head; while H3K27ac was detected all around the sperm head and H3K27me3 was consistently around the sperm head, just like a crown. The methylation of H3K27me3, which is a mark for transcriptional repression, were significantly higher than those of acetylation of H3K27ac, a marker for transcriptional activation. These findings agree with previous experimental evidence showing that methylation of histones cause transcriptional inactivity in mammals including humans (La Spina et al., 2014; Santos and Dean, 2004). The findings demonstrate that acetylated and trimethylated H3K27 are differentially retained in sperm from bulls with different fertility indexes measured *in vivo*.

Histone 3 (H3) is conserved across mammals, modulates chromatin structure, and it could be associated with bull fertility. The percent identity matrix showed that H3 is highly conserved (96.32-100%) across mammalian species such as *Bos taurus, Bos mutus, Canis lupis familiaris, Equus caballus, Homo sapiens, Macaca mulatta, Mus musculus and Rattus norvegicus*. Analysis of H3 protein sequence showed that H3 interacts with proteins such as chromatin assembly factor 1, centromere protein A, codanin 1, PHD finger protein 1, hepatoma-derived growth factor, and integrin. In addition, proteins interacting with H3 are involved in subcellular processes such as regulation of H3K27 methylation, nucleosome assembly, regulation of DNA replication and chromatin assembly.

Epigenetic modifications have a penetrating effect on functioning and fate determination of all body cells including sperm (Bernstein et al., 2007). Gene expression is influenced by changes in chromatin states through epigenetic mechanisms involving posttranslational modifications of histones (Lindeman et al., 2011; Ruthenburg et al., 2007). While posttranslational modifications of H3K27ac are involved in transcriptional activation (Cao et al., 2002; Czermin et al., 2002; Kuzmichev et al., 2002; Müller et al., 2002; Santos and Dean, 2004; Taguchi, 2015), those of H3K27me3 result in transcriptional silencing (Lee, 2009; Santos and Dean, 2004; Tsai et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2008). Our study is the first to demonstrate the degree of posttranslational changes of H3K27ac *versus* H3K27me3 in bull sperm. We also demonstrated that both H3 modifications (H3K27ac and H3K27me3) are detectable in bull sperm using immunocytochemistry. These results are consistent with those reported by other authors (de Oliveira et al., 2013; Flores et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2006).

Chromatin compaction, retaining of posttranslational histone modifications and the incorporation of protamines determine the state of molecular and cellular health of sperm (Brunner et al., 2014; Dogan et al., 2015) and abnormal retention of histones are indicator of immature sperm (de Oliveira et al., 2013). These facts are consistent with our study that confirms large numbers of sperm exhibiting no methylation or acetylation marks. Further, the difference in degree of methylation and acetylation could be a reason for excessive population of sperm with abnormal epigenetic status that make them unable to fertilize, activate the egg and to contribute to embryo development as well. In conclusion, conservation of the amino acid sequences present in H3 confirms the validity of using bull as a model for the study of mammalian sperm. For this reason, our findings have potential implications for improving the diagnosis of male subfertility of both bulls and other mammals, including men. Through the interactome data, we further demonstrate the importance of H3 for understanding of epigenetics and mammalian fertility. Most important, because H3K27 is associated with male fertility, this may be a suitable candidate for epigenome editing research.

#### References

- Apweiler R, Bairoch A, Wu CH (2004) Protein sequence databases. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology 8:76-80
- Arpanahi A, Brinkworth M, Iles D, Krawetz SA, Paradowska A, Platts AE, Saida M, Steger K, Tedder P, Miller D (2009) Endonuclease-sensitive regions of human spermatozoal chromatin are highly enriched in promoter and CTCF binding sequences. Genome Research 19:1338-1349
- Balhorn R (2007) The protamine family of sperm nuclear proteins. Genome biology 8:1
- Bao J, Bedford MT (2016) Epigenetic regulation of the histone-to-protamine transition during spermiogenesis. Reproduction 151:R55-R70
- Bao J, Wu J, Schuster AS, Hennig GW, Yan W (2013) Expression Profiling Reveals Developmentally Regulated lncRNA Repertoire in the Mouse Male Germline 1. Biology of Reproduction 89:Article 107, 101-112
- Bedford MT, Richard S (2005) Arginine methylation: an emerging regulatorof protein function. Molecular Cell 18:263-272
- Bernstein BE, Meissner A, Lander ES (2007) The mammalian epigenome. Cell 128:669-681
- Blaschek M, Kaya A, Zwald N, Memili E, Kirkpatrick B (2011) A whole-genome association analysis of noncompensatory fertility in Holstein bulls. Journal of Dairy Science 94:4695-4699
- Brown GR, Hem V, Katz KS, Ovetsky M, Wallin C, Ermolaeva O, Tolstoy I, Tatusova T, Pruitt KD, Maglott DR (2015) Gene: a gene-centered information resource at NCBI. Nucleic Acids Research 43:D36-D42
- Brunner AM, Nanni P, Mansuy IM (2014) Epigenetic marking of sperm by posttranslational modification of histones and protamines. Epigenetics & Chromatin 7:1
- Bryant JM, Donahue G, Wang X, Meyer-Ficca M, Luense LJ, Weller AH, Bartolomei MS, Blobel GA, Meyer RG, Garcia BA (2015) Characterization of BRD4 during mammalian postmeiotic sperm development. Molecular and Cellular Biology 35:1433-1448
- Buffone M, Doncel G, Briggiler CM, Vazquez-Levin M, Calamera J (2004) Human sperm subpopulations: relationship between functional quality and protein tyrosine phosphorylation. Human Reproduction 19:139-146

- Cao R, Wang L, Wang H, Xia L, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Jones RS, Zhang Y (2002) Role of histone H3 lysine 27 methylation in Polycomb-group silencing. Science 298:1039-1043
- Carone BR, Hung J-H, Hainer SJ, Chou M-T, Carone DM, Weng Z, Fazzio TG, Rando OJ (2014) High-resolution mapping of chromatin packaging in mouse embryonic stem cells and sperm. Developmental Cell 30:11-22
- Chow CM, Georgiou A, Szutorisz H, e Silva AM, Pombo A, Barahona I, Dargelos E, Canzonetta C, Dillon N (2005) Variant histone H3. 3 marks promoters of transcriptionally active genes during mammalian cell division. EMBO Reports 6:354-360
- Czermin B, Melfi R, McCabe D, Seitz V, Imhof A, Pirrotta V (2002) Drosophila enhancer of Zeste/ESC complexes have a histone H3 methyltransferase activity that marks chromosomal Polycomb sites. Cell 111:185-196
- de Oliveira RV, Dogan S, Belser LE, Kaya A, Topper E, Moura A, Thibaudeau G, Memili E (2013) Molecular morphology and function of bull spermatozoa linked to histones and associated with fertility. Reproduction 146:263-272
- Dogan S, Vargovic P, Oliveira R, Belser LE, Kaya A, Moura A, Sutovsky P, Parrish J, Topper E, Memili E (2015) Sperm protamine-status correlates to the fertility of breeding bulls. Biology of Reproduction 92:92
- Filion GJ, van Bemmel JG, Braunschweig U, Talhout W, Kind J, Ward LD, Brugman W, de Castro IJ, Kerkhoven RM, Bussemaker HJ (2010) Systematic protein location mapping reveals five principal chromatin types in Drosophila cells. Cell 143:212-224
- Flores E, Ramió-Lluch L, Bucci D, Fernández-Novell J, Peña A, Rodríguez-Gil J (2011) Freezing-thawing induces alterations in histone H1-DNA binding and the breaking of protein-DNA disulfide bonds in boar sperm. Theriogenology 76:1450-1464
- Glaser S, Lubitz S, Loveland KL, Ohbo K, Robb L, Schwenk F, Seibler J, Roellig D, Kranz A, Anastassiadis K (2009) The histone 3 lysine 4 methyltransferase, Mll2, is only required briefly in development and spermatogenesis. Epigenetics & Chromatin 2:5
- Goujon M, McWilliam H, Li W, Valentin F, Squizzato S, Paern J, Lopez R (2010) A new bioinformatics analysis tools framework at EMBL–EBI. Nucleic Acids Research 38:W695-W699

- Govin J, Escoffier E, Rousseaux S, Kuhn L, Ferro M, Thévenon J, Catena R, Davidson I, Garin J, Khochbin S (2007) Pericentric heterochromatin reprogramming by new histone variants during mouse spermiogenesis. Journal of Cell Biology 176:283-294
- Grimes SR, Henderson N (1984) Hyperacetylation of histone H4 in rat testis spermatids. Experimental Cell Research 152:91-97
- Guerrero-Bosagna C, Skinner MK (2014) Environmentally induced epigenetic transgenerational inheritance of male infertility. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development 26:79-88
- Hammoud SS, Nix DA, Zhang H, Purwar J, Carrell DT, Cairns BR (2009) Distinctive chromatin in human sperm packages genes for embryo development. Nature 460:473-478
- Heintzman ND, Hon GC, Hawkins RD, Kheradpour P, Stark A, Harp LF, Ye Z, Lee LK, Stuart RK, Ching CW (2009) Histone modifications at human enhancers reflect global cell type-specific gene expression. Nature 459:108
- Jenuwein T, Allis CD (2001) Translating the histone code. Science 293:1074-1080
- Kharchenko PV, Alekseyenko AA, Schwartz YB, Minoda A, Riddle NC, Ernst J, Sabo PJ, Larschan E, Gorchakov AA, Gu T (2011) Comprehensive analysis of the chromatin landscape in Drosophila. Nature 471:480

Kouzarides T (2007) Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell 128:693-705

- Kuzmichev A, Nishioka K, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Reinberg D (2002) Histone methyltransferase activity associated with a human multiprotein complex containing the Enhancer of Zeste protein. Genes & Development 16:2893-2905
- La Spina FA, Romanato M, Brugo-Olmedo S, De Vincentiis S, Julianelli V, Rivera RM, Buffone MG (2014) Heterogeneous distribution of histone methylation in mature human sperm. Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics 31:45-49
- Lee JT (2009) Lessons from X-chromosome inactivation: long ncRNA as guides and tethers to the epigenome. Genes & Development 23:1831-1842
- Li JJ, Huang H, Bickel PJ, Brenner SE (2014) Comparison of D. melanogaster and C. elegans developmental stages, tissues, and cells by modENCODE RNA-seq data. Genome Research 24:1086-1101
- Lindeman LC, Andersen IS, Reiner AH, Li N, Aanes H, Østrup O, Winata C, Mathavan S, Müller F, Aleström P (2011) Prepatterning of developmental gene expression by modified histones before zygotic genome activation. Developmental Cell 21:993-1004
- Marchler-Bauer A, Bryant SH (2004) CD-Search: protein domain annotations on the fly. Nucleic Acids Research 32:W327-W331
- Marchler-Bauer A, Derbyshire MK, Gonzales NR, Lu S, Chitsaz F, Geer LY, Geer RC, He J, Gwadz M, Hurwitz DI (2014) CDD: NCBI's conserved domain database. Nucleic Acids Research:gku1221
- Meistrich ML, Trostle-Weige PK, Lin R, Allis CD, Bhatnagar YM (1992) Highly acetylated H4 is associated with histone displacement in rat spermatids. Molecular Reproduction and Development 31:170-181
- Miller D, Brinkworth M, Iles D (2010) Paternal DNA packaging in spermatozoa: more than the sum of its parts? DNA, histones, protamines and epigenetics. Reproduction 139:287-301
- Montellier E, Boussouar F, Rousseaux S, Zhang K, Buchou T, Fenaille F, Shiota H, Debernardi A, Héry P, Curtet S (2013) Chromatin-to-nucleoprotamine transition is controlled by the histone H2B variant TH2B. Genes & Development 27:1680-1692
- Müller J, Hart CM, Francis NJ, Vargas ML, Sengupta A, Wild B, Miller EL, O'Connor MB, Kingston RE, Simon JA (2002) Histone methyltransferase activity of a Drosophila Polycomb group repressor complex. Cell 111:197-208
- Oliva R, Mezquita C (1982) Histone H4 hyperacetylation and rapid turnover of its acetyl groups in transcriptionally inactive rooster testis spermatids. Nucleic Acids Research 10:8049-8059
- Peddinti D, Nanduri B, Kaya A, Feugang JM, Burgess SC, Memili E (2008) Comprehensive proteomic analysis of bovine spermatozoa of varying fertility rates and identification of biomarkers associated with fertility. BMC Systems Biology 2:1
- Pittoggi C, Renzi L, Zaccagnini G, Cimini D, Degrassi F, Giordano R, Magnano A, Lorenzini R, Lavia P, Spadafora C (1999) A fraction of mouse sperm chromatin is organized in nucleosomal hypersensitive domains enriched in retroposon DNA. Journal of Cell Science 112:3537-3548
- Pradeepa MM (2017) Causal role of histone acetylations in enhancer function. Transcription 8:40-47
- Rivera C, Gurard-Levin ZA, Almouzni G, Loyola A (2014) Histone lysine methylation and chromatin replication. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms 1839:1433-1439

- Ruthenburg AJ, Li H, Patel DJ, Allis CD (2007) Multivalent engagement of chromatin modifications by linked binding modules. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 8:983-994
- Sagirkaya H, Misirlioglu M, Kaya A, First NL, Parrish JJ, Memili E (2006) Developmental and molecular correlates of bovine preimplantation embryos. Reproduction 131:895-904
- Samans B, Yang Y, Krebs S, Sarode GV, Blum H, Reichenbach M, Wolf E, Steger K, Dansranjavin T, Schagdarsurengin U (2014) Uniformity of nucleosome preservation pattern in Mammalian sperm and its connection to repetitive DNA elements. Developmental Cell 30:23-35
- Santos F, Dean W (2004) Epigenetic reprogramming during early development in mammals. Reproduction 127:643-651
- Shannon P, Markiel A, Ozier O, Baliga NS, Wang JT, Ramage D, Amin N, Schwikowski B, Ideker T (2003) Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. Genome Research 13:2498-2504
- Shinagawa T, Huynh LM, Takagi T, Tsukamoto D, Tomaru C, Kwak H-G, Dohmae N, Noguchi J, Ishii S (2015) Disruption of Th2a and Th2b genes causes defects in spermatogenesis. Development 142:1287-1292
- Sievers F, Wilm A, Dineen D, Gibson TJ, Karplus K, Li W, Lopez R, McWilliam H, Remmert M, Söding J (2011) Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. Molecular Systems Biology 7:539
- Stark C, Breitkreutz B-J, Reguly T, Boucher L, Breitkreutz A, Tyers M (2006) BioGRID: a general repository for interaction datasets. Nucleic Acids Research 34:D535-D539
- Taguchi Y (2015) Apparent microRNA-Target-specific Histone Modification in Mammalian Spermatogenesis. Evolutionary Bioinformatics
- Tie F, Banerjee R, Stratton CA, Prasad-Sinha J, Stepanik V, Zlobin A, Diaz MO, Scacheri PC, Harte PJ (2009) CBP-mediated acetylation of histone H3 lysine 27 antagonizes Drosophila Polycomb silencing. Development 136:3131-3141
- Tsai M-C, Manor O, Wan Y, Mosammaparast N, Wang JK, Lan F, Shi Y, Segal E, Chang HY (2010) Long noncoding RNA as modular scaffold of histone modification complexes. Science 329:689-693
- Turner JM, Mahadevaiah SK, Fernandez-Capetillo O, Nussenzweig A, Xu X, Deng C-X, Burgoyne PS (2005) Silencing of unsynapsed meiotic chromosomes in the mouse. Nature Genetics 37:41-47

- Van der Heijden G, Derijck A, Ramos L, Giele M, Van Der Vlag J, De Boer P (2006) Transmission of modified nucleosomes from the mouse male germline to the zygote and subsequent remodeling of paternal chromatin. Developmental Biology 298:458-469
- Verma A, Rajput S, Kumar S, De S, Chakravarty AK, Kumar R, Datta TK (2015) Differential histone modification status of spermatozoa in relation to fertility of Buffalo bulls. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 116:743-753
- Wang J, Zhong J, Chen G, Li M, Wu F-x, Pan Y (2015) ClusterViz: a cytoscape APP for cluster analysis of biological network. IEEE/ACM Transactions on Computational Biology and Bioinformatics (TCBB) 12:815-822
- Ward WS, Coffey D (1991) DNA packaging and organization in mammalian spermatozoa: comparison with somatic cells. Biology of Reproduction 44:569-574
- Zhang X, Gabriel MS, Zini A (2006) Sperm nuclear histone to protamine ratio in fertile and infertile men: evidence of heterogeneous subpopulations of spermatozoa in the ejaculate. Journal of Andrology 27:414-420
- Zhao J, Sun BK, Erwin JA, Song J-J, Lee JT (2008) Polycomb proteins targeted by a short repeat RNA to the mouse X chromosome. Science 322:750-756
- Zhuang T, Hess RA, Kolla V, Higashi M, Raabe TD, Brodeur GM (2014) CHD5 is required for spermiogenesis and chromatin condensation. Mechanisms of Development 131:35-46

#### CHAPTER IV

### SPERM CELLULAR AND NUCLEAR DYNAMICS ASSOCIATED WITH BULL FERTILITY

#### Abstract

Special structure and shape characteristics of sperm and the molecular chemistry of their nuclear proteins have been found to indicate and influence fertility of a bull and the subsequent development of the embryo. Some bulls, despite production of abundant sperm with normal to better motility and morphology, still have low fertility because of molecular defects to the cell and its proteins which interfere with sperm physiology. The intent of this study was to both ascertain those cellular characteristics and the dynamics of the nuclear proteins protamine1 (PRM1) and protamine2 (PRM2) in the sperm of Holstein bulls having different levels of fertility. To accomplish this objective, key sperm parameters were analyzed using computer-assisted sperm analysis (CASA). Sperm plasma membranes, acrosome status, DNA fragmentation and levels of nuclear proteins PRM1 and PRM2 were analyzed using PI, FITC-PNA, and in acridine orange (AO) and flow cytometry in sperm from Holstein bulls showing different in vivo fertility phenotypes. Average pathway velocity, amplitude of lateral head displacement, and straightness as determined by CASA were different (p < 0.05) for sperm from high and low fertility bulls. However, no differences were observed between the high and low fertility bulls with regard to the characteristics of sperm plasma membrane and acrosome, and DNA fragmentation. Expression levels of PRM1 and PRM2 in sperm from the high and low fertility bulls were found to be inversely related to each other (p < 0.0001). These results are significant because in addition to advancing the fundamental science of mammalian male gamete, these markers can be used to evaluate semen quality and predict bull fertility, and enhance mammalian reproductive biotechnologies such as *in vitro* fertilization, and embryo culture.

#### Introduction

During spermiogenesis, spermatids become spermatozoa, and most of the histones are imultaneously replaced by protamines to protect the paternal genome. The chromosomal DNA of spermatozoa is compressed into a less than nanometer space in the cell nucleus by protamines and histones. Histones are highly alkaline proteins, whereas protamines are small arginine rich proteins and abundantly present in spermatozoa (Takeda et al., 2016). Nuclear remodeling and condensation during spermiogensis result in sequential displacement of histones first by transition nuclear proteins and then primarily by protamines, namely protamine 1(PRM1) and protamine 2 (PRM2) (Balhorn et al., 1984; Kistler et al., 1996). The histone and protamine transition is essential for efficient chromatin compaction in order to silence sperm gene expression, protection and maintenance of sperm DNA integrity in the female reproductive tract, and for appropriate size of sperm head for better hydrodynamicity (Braun, 2001).

Mammalian sperm chromatin is not entirely packed with protamines, as 1-15% portion of mature sperm DNA is bound to histones (Erkek et al., 2013; Gatewood et al., 1987; Hammoud et al., 2009; Samans et al., 2014). Few of these histones are specific to spermatozoa such as TH2B, TH2A, H2AL1, H2AL2, H3.3A and H3.3B (Govin et al.,

2007) and linker histones H1T2 and HILS1 (Martianov et al., 2005) with various functions. Protamines are important for their efficient compression of sperm DNA into a 10-fold smaller sperm chromatin compaction configured as protamine toroids wherein DNA is attached to the nuclear matrix (Ward, 2010). Protamines are positively charged which triggers increased condensation with the negatively charged paternal genomic DNA (Lewis et al., 2003; Oliva, 1995; Queralt and Oliva, 1995). Because of cysteine amino acids in protamines, tight disulphide bridges are created between the protamine molecules resulting in a stabilized nucleoprotamine complex (Lewis et al., 2003; Vilfan et al., 2004).

Most primates carry single copy of PRM1 and PRM2 (Nelson and Krawetz, 1993; Nelson and Krawetz, 1994; Queralt and Oliva, 1993; Schlueter et al., 1996). The presence and functions of PRM2 in bull sperm are not fully understood. The genomic sequences of the PRM1 and PRM2 genes are organized to create a loop domain in conjunction with the transition protein 2 gene (TNP2) plus a sequence called gene4 (Martins et al., 2004; Wykes and Krawetz, 2003). This three-dimensional spatial organization may facilitate a coordinated expression of these genes during spermatogenesis. While the protamines (PRM1 and PRM2) and transition protein (TNP2) genes are expressed at high levels and their functions have been extensively studied in human and mice, only limited information is available for bovines.

While we know that protamines play a crucial role in bovine sperm development and reproduction, the mechanisms regulating sperm physiology are unclear. Protamines are thought to shield the sperm genetic material and its delivery to the egg (Mengual et al., 2003; Oliva and Dixon, 1991). Damage of sperm by endogenous or exogenous agents, such as nucleases, free radicals or mutagens occurs because of the compromised protamination (Alvarez et al., 2002; Irvine et al., 2000). As determined by sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA), abnormal protamination leads to DNA-fragmentation causing and lower success in intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) and in *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) rates (Evenson et al., 1980; Evenson and Wixon, 2005). Levels of protamines in human sperm are directly related to sperm DNA integrity (Aoki et al., 2005). Developmental defects after fertilization have occurred with decreased DNA integrity in mice (Lewis and Aitken, 2005; Suganuma et al., 2005; Tesarik et al., 2004). Cited studies about protamines could help increase understanding of epigenetic programming, and to develop novel approaches for early diagnosis and treatment of infertility (Bao and Bedford, 2016). The objectives of the study were to determine sperm phenotypes associated with bull fertility using a computer-assisted sperm analysis system and flow cytometry and to ascertain the differential expression of PRM1 and PRM2 in bull spermatozoa by using flow cytometry.

#### Materials and methods

### Determination of sperm phenotypes associated with bull fertility using computerassisted sperm analysis system (CASA).

Cryopreserved semen straws from 10 Holstein bulls (Alta Genetics, Inc., Watertown, WI, USA) were used for CASA (Table. 9).

Bulls	Fertility group	Number of	In vivo fertility	Std. dev.	
		breeding's	scores		
High fertility (HF) bulls					
1	HF-1	748	3.0	1.406	
2	HF-2	965	3.0	1.371	
3	HF-3	682	2.9	1.339	
4	HF-4	3647	2.8	1.311	
5	HF-5	6051	2.6	1.198	
Low fertility (LF) bulls					
6	LF-1	1020	-3.6	-1.658	
7	LF-2	927	-3.6	-1.664	
8	LF-3	901	-3.6	-1.649	
9	LF-4	1105	-3.7	-1.5979	
10	LF-5	987	-3.7	-1.73	

Table 9Fertility data of bull sperm used for this study.

Methods for determination of bull fertility have been previously described (Peddinti et al., 2008). For this study the fertility phenotypes were separated into high fertility (HF) and low fertility (LF) groups (de Oliveira et al., 2013). For determination of cellular characteristics of the sperm, semen straws (250 µl) were thawed in a water bath at 37°C for 60 sec. The semen was then transferred to 2.0 ml centrifuge tubes, diluted to  $5 \times 10^6$  sperm/ml in 0.0067 M phosphate buffered saline (HyClone, GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Logan Utah) pre-equilibrated at 37°C in a water bath. Sperm parameters of each ejaculate were then assessed immediately after thawing the semen in the straws.

Sperm motility was performed with a computer-assisted sperm analysis system (CASA; IVOS) with the following software setting: frame rates: 45 frames/s, number of frames: 60 frames/object, velocity limit for slow sperm: 30 µm/s, velocity limit for medium sperm:  $60 \mu m/s$ , minimal linearity (straightness) for progressive fast sperm: 90%, frames min (amplitude of lateral head displacement): 7, and filter for particles: 20%. To measure these, a 10  $\mu$ L aliquot of semen sample was placed on a pre-warmed standard count 4 chamber slide (Leja<sup>®</sup> Products B.V. Luzernestraat, Nieuw Vennep, Netherland) and at least 200 sperm were counted using a phase contrast microscope at magnification of 100X. Three aliquots from each semen sample were placed in a standard chamber and evaluated with randomly selected fields of view for each sample. The semen variables evaluated were: percentage of motile and rapidly progressive motile spermatozoa (fraction of all cells moving with average path velocity  $>60 \mu m/s$  and straightness >90%); average path velocity (length of a derived "average" path of spermhead movement per unit time); amplitude of lateral head displacement (width of the head movement envelope) and straightness (ratio [straight line, starting point to end point, velocity/average velocity along the whole length of path]  $\times 100$ ).

### Evaluation of sperm plasma membrane, acrosome status and DNA chromatin damage using flow cytometry

Sperm plasma membrane and acrosome status were assessed using flow cytometry as described by Nagy et al. (Nagy et al., 2003), with some modifications. An aliquot of 120 µg of fluorescein isothiocyanate-labelled peanut agglutinin (FITC-PNA; which binds specifically to outer acrosomal membrane) was added to 1 ml PBS for the preparation of the staining solution, and then divided into equal aliquots (100  $\mu$ l) after being filtered and stored at -20°C. Thawed straws were diluted 1:1 with PBS, and then 60  $\mu$ l of the diluted semen was mixed with 10  $\mu$ l of FITC-PNA and 2.5  $\mu$ l of propidium iodide (PI). The sample was gently mixed, incubated in the dark at 37°C for 20 min and added 10  $\mu$ l of Hancock's solution (Schäfer and Holzmann, 2000) for semen fixation, followed by FACSCalibur flow cytometry analysis (BD Bioscience San Jose, CA 95131-1807, USA).

Flow cytometric detection of sperm DNA chromatin damage was carried out according to the method as described by Rybar et al. (Rybar et al., 2003). The semen sample was diluted with TNE buffer (0.15 M NaCl, 0.01 M Tris HCl, 0.001 M disodium EDTA; pH 7.4) to a sperm concentration of  $2 \times 10^6$  cells/ml and immediately mixed with 400 µl of 0.08 M HCl, 0.15 M NaCl, and 0.1% Triton X-100 (pH 1.2). Following 30 sec incubation, 1.2 ml of acridine orange (AO) staining solution (0.037 M citric acid, 0.126 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.0011 M disodium EDTA, 0.15 M NaCl; pH 6.0) containing 6 µg/ml electrophoretically purified AO (Polysciences, Inc, Warrington, Pa) was added. Sperm samples were then analyzed using the BD-FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Bioscience San Jose, CA 95131-1807, USA). Ten thousand events were measured for each sample; this permitted the state of condensation of the sperm chromatin to be analyzed, as the DNA condensation is directly related to acridine orange uptake.

#### Flow cytometric evaluation of PRM1 and PRM2 expression in bull spermatozoa

To quantify the enrichment of PRM1 and PRM2 in bovine spermatozoa, the signal intensities of these proteins were recorded using flow cytometry. Semen straws

from five HF and five LF Holstein bulls were removed from liquid nitrogen and thawed at 37°C for 30 sec. Samples were washed twice in PBS with 0.1% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and centrifuged at 2,000 g at  $4^{\circ}$ C for 5 min. Sperm were counted using a Neubauer-chamber and approximately 2-3 million cells were distributed in separate centrifuge tube and then fixed in 1 mL of 4% formaldehyde at RT for 1 hr. The samples were then centrifuged at 5,000 g and 4°C for 5 minutes and pellets were resuspended in  $250 \ \mu\text{L}$  of PBS and immediately permeabilized in  $250 \ \mu\text{L}$  of 0.1% Triton X-100 in 0.1%sodium citrate in PBS on ice for 2 min. The pellets were resuspended in 500 µL of PBS, filtered through a flow cytometric tube using a cell strainer cap (Becton Dickinson Labware; catalogue no. 352235), and then incubated with the primary antibodies at 4°C overnight. The primary antibodies used were rabbit polyclonal PRM1 (M-51; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA; catalog # sc30174; 1/250 dilution) against PRM1 and mouse monoclonal antibody PRM2 (Briar Patch Biosciences, Livermore, CA, USA; catalog # Hup 2B; 1/250 dilution) against PRM2. Next day, samples were centrifuged at 3,000 g at 4°C for 5 min, washed once in 500  $\mu$ L washing buffer, centrifuged at 3,000 g and 4°C for 5 minutes and incubated with secondary antibodies at RT for one and half hours. The secondary antibodies were Donkey anti rabbit IgG (FITC; Santa Cruz, Dallas, Texas, USA; catalog # sc2090; 1/250 dilution) and goat anti-mouse IgG H&L (DyLight® 650; Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA; catalog # 96874; 1/250 dilution) Following the incubation, the samples were washed twice in PBS with 0.1% BSA (3,000 g at 4°C for 5 min). The experiment was repeated five times and sperm samples were then analyzed using the BD-FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Bioscience, USA).

#### Statistical analyses

For CASA, statistical analyses were carried using GraphPad Prism software, version 5 (GraphPad, San Diego, CA, USA). Data were assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test and variables not normally distributed were arcsine transformed prior to the statistical analyses. Statistical differences between groups were calculated by t-test and considered significant at P < 0.05. The relationship between PRM1 and PRM2 statistical analysis was carried out using SAS for Windows 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). To meet the assumptions of the statistical tests, values for PRM1 and PRM2 were natural log transformed (LPRM1 and LPRM2). Separate linear mixed models were fit with PROC MIXED for LPRM1 and LPRM2 as outcomes. Group was included as a fixed effect with bull included as a random effect in each model. In addition, separate linear mixed models were fit with LPRM1 and LPRM2 as response variables with LPRM2 and LPRM1 as fixed effects, respectively. Group as a fixed effect and bull as a random effect were also included in each of the models. Separate models with fertility score as the fixed effect were fit for both the high and low fertility groups to better understand the relationship between fertility score and both LPRM1 and LPRM2. Regression line plots were made using PROC SGPLOT. The regression line was determined using the model-predicted values of LPRM1 and LPRM2 for each value of fertility score, LPRM2, or LPRM1 as indicated using the mixed effects model. Diagnostic plots of residuals for each outcome were assessed to ensure the assumptions of the statistical method had been met. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance.

#### Results

#### Determination of sperm phenotypes associated with bull fertility using CASA

Among the several indicators for bull fertility are quality and quantity of sperm delivered to the dam. During artificial insemination, increased sperm concentrations are required for successful fertilization of low fertility bulls than that for high fertility bulls. In fact, appropriate sperm concentration, evaluation of sperm parameters involving sperm motility, rapidly progressive motility, average path velocity, lateral head displacement and straightness using CASA showed surprising results. Analyses of semen samples by CASA showed statistically significant differences for high and low fertility bulls in average pathway velocity, amplitude of lateral head displacement, and straightness (P < 0.05; Table 10).

Evaluations	Fertility phenotypes		
Semen parameters	High fertility	Low Fertility	
Motile spermatozoa (%)	55.6±2.4	52.4±3.6	
Rapidly progressive motile spermatozoa (%)	40.5±2.4	38.5±3.0	
Average path velocity ( $\mu$ m/s)	91.5±1.7ª	82.61±3.4 <sup>b</sup>	
Amplitude of lateral head displacement (µm/s)	8.8±0.4ª	7.69±0.4 <sup>b</sup>	
Path straightness (%)	70.4±1.9ª	73.66±1.6 <sup>b</sup>	

Table 10Sperm parameters (mean values  $\pm$  S.D) of frozen-thawed bull spermatozoawith different fertility phenotypes.

Different superscript letters in the same row indicate significant differences (p < 0.05).

## Evaluation of sperm plasma membrane, acrosome status and DNA chromatin damage using flow cytometry

Sperm plasma membranes are rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids and essential proteins, and they have significant influence on sperm capacitation, acrosome reaction and successful sperm-egg fusion. Sperm acrosome status and DNA fragmentation are directly dependent on integrity of sperm plasma membrane and hence are potential indicators of viable bull spermatozoa. Sperm plasma membrane integrity, acrosome status, and DNA fragmentation assessments by flow cytometry revealed no statistical differences (P > 0.05) between high and low fertility bulls (Fig. 17).



Figure 17 Assessment of plasma membrane, acrosome status, and DNA chromatin damage of bull spermatozoa.

Data were generated using FITC-PNA, Propidium iodide, and acridine orange stain followed by flow cytometry analysis on sperm of high and low fertility bulls.

# Flow cytometric analysis of PRM1 and PRM2 expression in sperm from HF and LF bulls

Protamines are arginine and cysteine rich and are essential for sperm head

formation, its good hydrodynamicity, and the necessary and appropriate speed to meet the

egg in isthmic-ampullary junction. In addition, protamines are the main proteins in sperm

chromatin and are involved with the packaging of nuclear DNA of sperm and hence protecting the paternal genomic information. While most all mammals have both PRM1 and PRM2 genes in their genomes, in bulls PRM1 is expressed, and the presence of PRM2 protein requires much further study. For this, our analysis of the PRM1 and PRM2 expression for a total of 150,000 spermatozoa were carried out by flow cytometry to determine the expression of protamine1 and protamine2 in sperm from the high fertility and the low fertility groups of five bulls. Flow cytometric measurements of PRM1 and PRM2 sperm showed different histogram profiles in sperm from the HF and LF groups (Fig. 18A-C; Fig 19A&B).



Figure 18 Flow cytometry negative controls.

The negative control showing the absence of fluorescence and unstained sperm (Q4; Fig. A). Negative control FITC as secondary antibody (Q4; Fig. B) to target PRM1. Negative control for DyLight 650 as secondary antibody (Q4; Fig. C) to target PRM2.



Figure 19 Differential expression of PRM1 and PRM2 in bovine spermatozoa.

Percentage of spermatozoa expressing PRM2 (Q1), double positive (PRM1 and PRM2 together) (Q2), PRM1 (Q3), and unstained cells (Q4) in high fertility (A) and low fertility bulls (B).

The degree of expression of LPRM1 and LPRM2 was not significantly different

between high and low fertility bulls (Fig. 20A&B; Fig. 21A&B).



Figure 20 Differential expression of PRM1 in HF and LF bull sperm.

Regression plot depicts the relationship of PRM1 with high (A) and low (B) bull fertility score.



Figure 21 Differential expression of PRM2 in HF and LF bull sperm.

Regression plot depicts the relationship of PRM2 with high (A) and low (B) bull fertility score.

However, LPRM1 and LPRM2 expression levels were inversely related to each other (p < 0.0001; Fig. 22).



Protamine1 vs protamine2 in high and low fertility bull

Figure 22 Relationship between the expressions of PRM1 and PRM2 in bull sperm. Regression plot depicts the inverse relationship of log transformed PRM1 and PRM2 (p < 0.0001).

#### Discussion

High fertility is essential for efficient, profitable and sustainable production of cattle. The influence of sperm nuclear proteins on sperm head shape, size, motility, and fertilizing ability, all aid in determining male fertility of mammals. Although producing ample sperm with good motility and morphology, some bulls suffer from noncompensable infertility due to some molecular defects in their sperm (Blaschek et al., 2011; Memili et al., 2012). We used computer-assisted sperm analysis system and flow

cytometry to test our hypothesis that sperm cellular phenotypes as well as PRM1 and PRM2 levels are associated with the degree of bull fertility. This pioneering study took on a critical issue to improve and simplify the knowledgebase and biotechnology for cattle reproduction.

We demonstrated that average pathway velocity, amplitude of lateral head displacement, and path straightness were different in sperm from high and low fertility bulls. Our observation that the proportion of rapidly progressive motility and lateral head displacement spermatozoa was significantly lower in low fertility bulls compared with high fertility bulls is in accordance with previous reports (Birck et al., 2010; Hoflack et al., 2007; Singh et al., 2016). Surprisingly, we also determined that sperm plasma membrane integrity and acrosome status as well as sperm DNA fragmentation status were not different between high and low fertility bull samples. A functional plasma membrane is dependent on membrane ion channels (Petrunkina et al., 2001; Petrunkina et al., 2004) and directly related to sperm fertilizing potential (Tartaglione and Ritta, 2004). However, the mechanisms underlying the alterations of membrane functionality and the influence on fertility are not fully understood. Previous studies also showed non-significant relationship between sperm characteristics and plasma membrane integrity related to the HF and LF bulls (Mishra et al., 2013).

The analysis of the expression PRM1 (represented by LPRM1) and PRM2 (represented by LPRM2) showed different histogram profiles and the log transformed PRM1 and 2 expression levels were inversely related, showing as LPRM2 increasing while the expression of LPRM1 decreased (P < 0.0001). To confirm the PRM2 expression dynamics separately in spermatozoa, monoclonal PRM2 antibody was used to show decreased expression, of which results remain unexplained. Possible reasons could be that both PRM1 and PRM2 protamines, if present together in sperm, have a synergistic effect, where PRM2 aids in incorporation of PRM1 or that the absence of one protamine allows augmentation of the other protamine or even allows absence of a different protein in sperm nucleus. Alternatively, expression of PRM2 in minute amounts could be an indicator of a healthy sperm population in a bull. This assumption is well supported by research findings of Cho et al., (2001) (Cho et al., 2001), showing that PRM1 requires PRM2 to get incorporated into sperm chromatin. Also, decreased PRM2 in the majority of infertile individuals was found because of an abnormal PRM1/PRM2 ratio (Aoki et al., 2005; Aoki et al., 2006). This abnormal ratio is associated with decreased fertility, DNA fragmentation, and morphological changes in bull sperm (Aoki et al., 2005; Aoki et al., 2006; Carrell and Liu, 2001; Nasr-Esfahani et al., 2004; Razavi et al., 2003). Other researchers studying different mammals have shown that abnormal expression of protamines leads to conformational changes in sperm formation during spermatogenesis and hence a decrease in male fertility (Aoki et al., 2005; Carrell and Liu, 2001; Mengual et al., 2003).

#### Conclusions

In conclusion, average pathway velocity, amplitude of lateral head displacement and path straightness of frozen-thawed sperm evaluated by CASA, but not sperm plasma membrane, acrosome status or DNA integrity, were significantly distinct between bulls with contrasting *in vivo* fertility scores. Analysis of PRM1 and PRM2 expression by flow cytometry revealed different histogram profiles in sperm from HF and LF bulls and is a high throughput analysis method to test bull fertility and its suitability for breeding. Thus, flow cytometry and CASA analysis are valid for evaluation of potential bull fertility and sperm nuclear proteins (PRM1 and PRM2) can be important biomolecular markers of fertility as well. Results of the present study will advance the fundamental science of mammalian male gamete and efforts for reliable prediction of bull fertility.

#### References

- Alvarez JG, Sharma RK, Ollero M, Saleh RA, Lopez MC, Thomas AJ, Evenson DP, Agarwal A (2002) Increased DNA damage in sperm from leukocytospermic semen samples as determined by the sperm chromatin structure assay. Fertility and Sterility 78:319-329
- Aoki VW, Christensen GL, Atkins JF, Carrell DT (2006) Identification of novel polymorphisms in the nuclear protein genes and their relationship with human sperm protamine deficiency and severe male infertility. Fertility and Sterility 86:1416-1422
- Aoki VW, Liu L, Carrell DT (2005) Identification and evaluation of a novel sperm protamine abnormality in a population of infertile males. Human Reproduction 20:1298-1306
- Balhorn R, Weston S, Thomas C, Wyrobek AJ (1984) DNA packaging in mouse spermatids: synthesis of protamine variants and four transition proteins. Experimental Cell Research 150:298-308
- Bao J, Bedford MT (2016) Epigenetic regulation of the histone-to-protamine transition during spermiogenesis. Reproduction 151:R55-R70
- Birck A, Christensen P, Labouriau R, Pedersen J, Borchersen S (2010) In vitro induction of the acrosome reaction in bull sperm and the relationship to field fertility using low-dose inseminations. Theriogenology 73:1180-1191
- Blaschek M, Kaya A, Zwald N, Memili E, Kirkpatrick B (2011) A whole-genome association analysis of noncompensatory fertility in Holstein bulls. Journal of Dairy Science 94:4695-4699
- Braun RE, Behringer RR, Peschon JJ, Brinster RL, Palmiter RD (1989) Genetically haploid spermatids are phenotypically diploid. Nature 337:373-376
- Carrell DT, Liu L (2001) Altered protamine 2 expression is uncommon in donors of known fertility, but common among men with poor fertilizing capacity, and may reflect other abnormalities of spermiogenesis. Journal of Andrology 22:604-610
- Cho C, Willis WD, Goulding EH, Jung-Ha H, Choi Y-C, Hecht NB, Eddy EM (2001) Haploinsufficiency of protamine-1 or-2 causes infertility in mice. Nature Genetics 28:82-86
- de Oliveira RV, Dogan S, Belser LE, Kaya A, Topper E, Moura A, Thibaudeau G, Memili E (2013) Molecular morphology and function of bull spermatozoa linked to histones and associated with fertility. Reproduction 146:263-272

- Erkek S, Hisano M, Liang C-Y, Gill M, Murr R, Dieker J, Schübeler D, Van Der Vlag J, Stadler MB, Peters AH (2013) Molecular determinants of nucleosome retention at CpG-rich sequences in mouse spermatozoa. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology 20:868-875
- Evenson D, Darzynkiewicz Z, Melamed M (1980) Relation of mammalian sperm chromatin heterogeneity to fertility. Science 210:1131-1133
- Evenson DP, Wixon R (2005) Comparison of the Halosperm® test kit with the Sperm Chromatin Structure Assay (SCSA®) infertility test in relation to patient diagnosis and prognosis. Fertility and Sterility 84:846-849
- Gatewood J, Cook G, Balhorn R, Bradbury E, Schmid C (1987) Sequence-specific packaging of DNA in human sperm chromatin. Science 236:962-965
- Govin J, Escoffier E, Rousseaux S, Kuhn L, Ferro M, Thévenon J, Catena R, Davidson I, Garin J, Khochbin S (2007) Pericentric heterochromatin reprogramming by new histone variants during mouse spermiogenesis. Journal of Cell Biology 176:283-294
- Hammoud SS, Nix DA, Zhang H, Purwar J, Carrell DT, Cairns BR (2009) Distinctive chromatin in human sperm packages genes for embryo development. Nature 460:473-478
- Hoflack G, Opsomer G, Rijsselaere T, Van Soom A, Maes D, De Kruif A, Duchateau L (2007) Comparison of Computer-assisted Sperm Motility Analysis Parameters in Semen from Belgian Blue and Holstein–Friesian Bulls. Reproduction in Domestic Animals 42:153-161
- Irvine DS, TWIGG JP, GORDON EL, FULTON N, MILNE PA, Aitken R (2000) DNA integrity in human spermatozoa: relationships with semen quality. Journal of Andrology 21:33-44
- Kistler WS, Henriksén K, Mali P, Parvinen M (1996) Sequential expression of nucleoproteins during rat spermiogenesis. Experimental Cell Research 225:374-381
- Lewis JD, Song Y, de Jong ME, Bagha SM, Ausió J (2003) A walk though vertebrate and invertebrate protamines. Chromosoma 111:473-482
- Lewis SE, Aitken R (2005) DNA damage to spermatozoa has impacts on fertilization and pregnancy. Cell and Tissue Research 322:33-41

- Martianov I, Brancorsini S, Catena R, Gansmuller A, Kotaja N, Parvinen M, Sassone-Corsi P, Davidson I (2005) Polar nuclear localization of H1T2, a histone H1 variant, required for spermatid elongation and DNA condensation during spermiogenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102:2808-2813
- Martins RP, Ostermeier GC, Krawetz SA (2004) Nuclear Matrix Interactions at the Human Protamine Domain a working model of potentiation. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279:51862-51868
- Memili E, Dogan S, Rodriguez-Osorio N, Wang X, de Oliveira RV, Mason MC, Govindaraju A, Grant KE, Belser LE, Crate E (2012) Makings of the Best Spermatozoa: Molecular Determinants of High Fertility. In: Male Infertility. InTech
- Mengual L, Ballescá JL, Ascaso C, Oliva R (2003) Marked differences in protamine content and P1/P2 ratios in sperm cells from percoll fractions between patients and controls. Journal of Andrology 24:438-447
- Mishra S, Kundu A, Mahapatra A (2013) Effect of ambient temperature on membrane integrity of spermatozoa in different breeds of bulls. The Bioscan 8:181-183
- Nagy S, Jansen J, Topper EK, Gadella BM (2003) A triple-stain flow cytometric method to assess plasma-and acrosome-membrane integrity of cryopreserved bovine sperm immediately after thawing in presence of egg-yolk particles. Biology of reproduction 68:1828-1835
- Nasr-Esfahani MH, Razavi S, Mozdarani H, Mardani M, Azvagi H (2004) Relationship between protamine deficiency with fertilization rate and incidence of sperm premature chromosomal condensation post-ICSI. Andrologia 36:95-100
- Nelson JE, Krawetz S (1993) Linkage of human spermatid-specific basic nuclear protein genes. Definition and evolution of the P1--> P2--> TP2 locus. Journal of Biological Chemistry 268:2932-2936
- Nelson JE, Krawetz SA (1994) Characterization of a human locus in transition. Journal of Biological Chemistry 269:31067-31073
- Oliva R (1995) Sequence, evolution and transcriptional regulation of avian-mammalian P1 type protamines. Advances in spermatozoal phylogeny and taxonomy Editions du Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris:537-548
- Oliva R, Dixon GH (1991) Vertebrate protamine genes and the histone-to-protamine replacement reaction. Progress in Nucleic Acid Research and Molecular Biology 40:25-94

- Peddinti D, Nanduri B, Kaya A, Feugang JM, Burgess SC, Memili E (2008) Comprehensive proteomic analysis of bovine spermatozoa of varying fertility rates and identification of biomarkers associated with fertility. BMC Systems Biology 2:1
- Petrunkina A, Harrison R, Ekhlasi-Hundrieser M, Töpfer-Petersen E (2004) Role of volume-stimulated osmolyte and anion channels in volume regulation by mammalian sperm. Molecular Human Reproduction 10:815-823
- Petrunkina A, Harrison R, Hebel M, Weitze K, Topfer-Petersen E (2001) Role of quinine-sensitive ion channels in volume regulation in boar and bull spermatozoa. Reproduction 122:327-336
- Queralt R, Oliva R (1993) Identification of conserved potential regulatory sequences of the protamine-encoding P1 genes from ten different mammals. Gene 133:197-204
- Queralt R, Oliva R (1995) Demonstration of trans-acting factors binding to the promoter region of the testis-specific rat protamine P1 gene. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 208:802-812
- Razavi S, Nasr-Esfahani MH, Mardani M, Mafi A, Moghdam A (2003) Effect of human sperm chromatin anomalies on fertilization outcome post-ICSI. Andrologia 35:238-243
- Rybar R, Faldikova L, Faldyna M, Machatkova M, Rubes J (2003) Bull and boar sperm DNA integrity evaluated by sperm chromatin structure assay in the Czech Republic. Veterinarni Medicina-UZPI (Czech Republic)
- Samans B, Yang Y, Krebs S, Sarode GV, Blum H, Reichenbach M, Wolf E, Steger K, Dansranjavin T, Schagdarsurengin U (2014) Uniformity of nucleosome preservation pattern in Mammalian sperm and its connection to repetitive DNA elements. Developmental Cell 30:23-35
- Schäfer S, Holzmann A (2000) The use of transmigration and Spermac<sup>™</sup> stain to evaluate epididymal cat spermatozoa. Animal Reproduction Science 59:201-211
- Schlueter G, Celik A, Obata R, Schlicker M, Hofferbert S, Schlung A, Adham IM, Engel W (1996) Sequence analysis of the conserved protamine gene cluster shows that it contains a fourth expressed gene. Molecular Reproduction and Development 43:1-6
- Singh RK, Kumaresan A, Chhillar S, Rajak SK, Tripathi UK, Nayak S, Datta T, Mohanty T, Malhotra R (2016) Identification of suitable combinations of in vitro spermfunction test for the prediction of fertility in buffalo bull. Theriogenology 86:2263-2271. e2261

- Suganuma R, Yanagimachi R, Meistrich ML (2005) Decline in fertility of mouse sperm with abnormal chromatin during epididymal passage as revealed by ICSI. Human Reproduction 20:3101-3108
- Takeda N, Yoshinaga K, Furushima K, Takamune K, Li Z, Abe S-i, Aizawa S-i, Yamamura K-i (2016) Viable offspring obtained from Prm1-deficient sperm in mice. Scientific Reports 6:27409
- Tartaglione C, Ritta M (2004) Prognostic value of spermatological parameters as predictors of in vitro fertility of frozen-thawed bull semen. Theriogenology 62:1245-1252
- Tesarik J, Greco E, Mendoza C (2004) Late, but not early, paternal effect on human embryo development is related to sperm DNA fragmentation. Human Reproduction 19:611-615
- Vilfan ID, Conwell CC, Hud NV (2004) Formation of native-like mammalian sperm cell chromatin with folded bull protamine. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279:20088-20095
- Ward WS (2010) Function of sperm chromatin structural elements in fertilization and development. Molecular Human Reproduction 16:30-36
- Wykes SM, Krawetz SA (2003) The structural organization of sperm chromatin. Journal of Biological Chemistry 278:29471-29477

#### CHAPTER V

#### OVERALL SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND PROSPECTS

The bull is an ideal model for the comparative study of genetic and epigenetics of sperm nuclear proteins and their role in sperm chromatin dynamics because of the remarkable similarities in reproductive physiology throughout most mammals and humans. The focus of this dissertation was on testis specific histones 2B (TH2B; Chapter 2), posttranslational modifications (PTM) of histone 3 (H3K27me3/H3K27ac; Chapter 3), chromatin remodeling proteins, and protamines (PRM1 and PRM2; Chapter 4). Sperm nuclear proteins are essential for male reproduction and critical to many causes of infertility. They determine the health of sperm by efficient packaging of chromatin, presence of specific PTM for early transcript release, which are essential for fertilization, egg activation and early embryo development. Increasingly many bulls produce ample sperm with normal motility and morphology but exhibit low fertility (Kumar and Sigh, 2015). Similarly, among the Western populations of the world, male infertility is a rising trend affecting one in 20 men (Zamudio et al., 2008). Improper packaging of sperm DNA, caused partly by reduced protamination, predisposes sperm DNA to damage, which then interferes with fertilization and early embryonic development. Although the paternal genome is believed to be reprogrammed between generations (Oswald et al., 2000), inheritance of epigenetic marks is also possible (Zamudio et al., 2008). Abnormal chromatin condensation in the sperm during spermatogenesis (pre-fertilization event) and during pro-nucleus formation (post-fertilization) can induce reproductive problems causing infertility, improper egg activation, and imperfect embryo development (Ward, 2010). Despite advances in animal science and technologies, reproductive success influenced by paternal effects is still in urgent need of more sophisticated research in the lab to enable successful results to improve dairy production. Powerful molecular technologies, including precise measurements of genomic and epigenomic landscapes within single cells, are expected to enhance the production of new knowledge and to result in new and significant applications.

Testis specific histone 2B in bull sperm is a histone 2B variant which initiates replacement of histones, first by transition nuclear proteins and then by protamines. I have demonstrated the expression of these in bovine sperm (Chapter 2). The fluorescence signal intensity from TH2B was quantified and compared among sperm from bulls with different fertility phenotypes. Our results suggest that TH2B plays a key role in facilitating the histone to protamine transformation in bovine. However, this mechanism involves other key players, which are nuclear proteins and might also be associated with sperm chromatin called chromatin remodelers BRD4 and CHD5. These regulate histone to protamine transition in sperm chromatin in the mouse (Montellier et al., 2013; Shinagawa et al., 2015). Our study on the bovine functional genome also suggests that the chromatin compaction and eviction of histones is dependent on all three proteins together, BRD4, CHD5 and TH2B, where TH2B may be involved in catalyzing that transformation. We analyzed TH2B networks in the chromatin of bull sperm to depict the cellular locations of TH2B variant, and to detect the TH2B protein. All of these results are in accordance with findings on the functions of TH2B in the mouse as reported by

other researchers (Montellier et al., 2013; Shinagawa et al., 2014; Shinagawa et al., 2015). The results are significant because they help us better understand the mechanisms of chromatin compaction in bull sperm and that the results can be applicable in reproductive biotechnology of other mammals including humans.

Posttranslational modifications of histone 3 (H3) have two alternative functions, in the repression of the genome or its activation. In the repression state, genes are not transcribed, but in the opposite activation state they are likely to be transcribed. My studies on histone 3 (H3) lysine 27 trimethylation and acetylation are described in Chapter 3. I concluded that amino acid sequences of histone three are highly conserved among mammals. Thus, the findings have possibilities for improved diagnosis of male subfertility of bulls and other mammals, including man. The interactome data further demonstrated the importance of H3 for understanding reproductive epigenetics and mammalian fertility. Of special important, because H3K27 is so closely associated with male fertility, this may be a suitable candidate for epigenome editing research.

Genes for protamine 1 (*PRM1*) and protamine 2 (*PRM2*) are present in bovine spermatozoa. Although the presence of PRM1 protein in sperm has been confirmed, that of presence of PRM2 in bovine has been elusive in part because the relationship between protamines and sperm parameters are not well understood. In chapter 4, I present my investigations on the characteristics of sperm propulsion dynamics which are average pathway velocity, amplitude of lateral head displacement and path straightness as occurs for sperm that has been through the frozen-thawed cycle. The sperm plasma membrane, acrosome status or DNA integrity, were all analyzed for bulls with contrasting *in vivo* fertility scores. Analysis of the PRM1 and PRM2 expression using flow cytometry revealed different histogram profiles for sperm from higher and lower fertility bulls. There is advantage to using flow cytometry, a high throughput analysis method, minimizing time required for testing bull fertility and their selection for breeding. Flow cytometry and CASA analysis are valuable methods for evaluation of semen and predicting bull fertility. Sperm nuclear proteins (PRM1 and PRM2) are shown to be potential biomolecular markers of fertility as well and should be investigated in large bull populations. These results will advance the fundamental science of mammalian male gametes and efforts for better prediction of bull fertility.

#### References

- Kumar N, Singh AK (2015) Trends of male factor infertility, an important cause of infertility: A review of literature. Journal of Human Reproductive Sciences 8:191
- Montellier E, Boussouar F, Rousseaux S, Zhang K, Buchou T, Fenaille F, Shiota H, Debernardi A, Héry P, Curtet S (2013) Chromatin-to-nucleoprotamine transition is controlled by the histone H2B variant TH2B. Genes & Dvelopment 27:1680-1692
- Oswald J, Engemann S, Lane N, Mayer W, Olek A, Fundele R, Dean W, Reik W, Walter J (2000) Active demethylation of the paternal genome in the mouse zygote. Current Biology 10:475-478
- Shinagawa T, Huynh LM, Takagi T, Tsukamoto D, Tomaru C, Kwak H-G, Dohmae N, Noguchi J, Ishii S (2015) Disruption of Th2a and Th2b genes causes defects in spermatogenesis. Development 142:1287-1292
- Shinagawa T, Takagi T, Tsukamoto D, Tomaru C, Huynh LM, Sivaraman P, Kumarevel T, Inoue K, Nakato R, Katou Y (2014) Histone variants enriched in oocytes enhance reprogramming to induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 14:217-227
- Ward WS (2010) Function of sperm chromatin structural elements in fertilization and development. Molecular Human Reproduction 16:30-36
- Zamudio NM, Chong S, O'Bryan MK (2008) Epigenetic regulation in male germ cells. Reproduction 136:131-146